

Hazards of bisphenol A (BPA) exposure: A systematic review of plant toxicology studies

Changyun Xiao, Lihong Wang, Qing Zhou, Xiaohua Huang

PII:S0304-3894(19)31442-6DOI:https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121488Reference:HAZMAT 121488To appear in:Journal of Hazardous MaterialsReceived Date:3 August 2019Revised Date:15 October 2019

Accepted Date: 16 October 2019

Please cite this article as: Xiao C, Wang L, Zhou Q, Huang X, Hazards of bisphenol A (BPA) exposure: A systematic review of plant toxicology studies, *Journal of Hazardous Materials* (2019), doi: https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jhazmat.2019.121488

This is a PDF file of an article that has undergone enhancements after acceptance, such as the addition of a cover page and metadata, and formatting for readability, but it is not yet the definitive version of record. This version will undergo additional copyediting, typesetting and review before it is published in its final form, but we are providing this version to give early visibility of the article. Please note that, during the production process, errors may be discovered which could affect the content, and all legal disclaimers that apply to the journal pertain.

© 2019 Published by Elsevier.

Hazards of bisphenol A (BPA) exposure: A systematic review of plant toxicology studies Changyun Xiao ^a, Lihong Wang ^a, Qing Zhou ^{a,c,*}, Xiaohua Huang ^{b,**}

^a State Key Laboratory of Food Science and Technology, Jiangsu Key Laboratory of Anaerobic Biotechnology, School of Environment and Civil Engineering, Jiangnan University, Wuxi 214122, China

^b Jiangsu Collaborative Innovation Center of Biomedical Functional Materials, Jiangsu Key Laboratory of Biomedical Materials, School of Chemistry and Materials Science, Nanjing Normal University, Nanjing 210046, China

^c Jiangsu Cooperative Innovation Center of Water Treatment Technology and Materials, Suzhou University of Science and Technology, Suzhou 215009, China

*Correspondence: Qing Zhou. Address: Jiangsu Key Laboratory of Anaerobic Biotechnology, School of Environment and Civil Engineering, Jiangnan University, Wuxi 214122, China. Phone: +86-510-85326581; *E-mail: qingzhou510@yahoo.com*

**Correspondence: Xiaohua Huang. Address: Jiangsu Collaborative Innovation Center of Biomedical Functional Materials, Jiangsu Key Laboratory of Biomedical Materials, School of Chemistry and Materials Science, Nanjing Normal University, Nanjing 210046, China. *E-mail: huangxiaohuanjnu@yahoo.com*

Highlights:

- Exposure risks and emerging issues of BPA have become a global concern.
- This review provides a general view on the current knowledge of BPA phytotoxicity.
- Research advances in phytoremediation of BPA contamination have described.
- Suggested research directions on BPA phytotoxicity are put forward.

Abstract: The widespread use of bisphenol A (BPA) has led to its ubiquity in the natural environment. Thus, BPA is considered as a contaminant of emerging concern. Due to its widespread use, BPA has been detected in a range of soils and surface waters. This is of concern because BPA has been shown to elicit slight to moderate toxicity to plants. Based on current research and our own work, this paper reviews the toxic effects of BPA on plant growth and development, including effects at the macroscopic (e.g. seed germination, root, stem and leaf growth) and microscopic (photosynthesis, uptake of mineral nutrient, hormone secretion, antioxidant systems, and reproductive genetic behavior) levels. Furthermore, this paper will discuss effects of BPA exposure on metabolic reactions in exposed plant species, and explore the use of high-efficiency plants in BPA pollution control (e.g. phytoremediation). Finally, this paper proposes some ideas for the future of BPA phytotoxicity research.

Abbreviations:

BPA: bisphenol A; Chl: chlorophyll; ROS: reactive oxygen species; PS II: photosynthetic system II; *P*_n: net photosynthetic rate; IAA: indole-3-acetic acid; ABA: abscisic acid; ZT: zeatin; GA: gibberellic acid; ETH: ethylene; SOD: superoxide dismutase; CAT: catalase; MDA: malondialdehyde; AFs: actin filaments; CA: chromosomal aberration; MTs: microtubule arrays; ER: endoplasmic reticulum

Keywords: Bisphenol A; Toxicity; Plants; Growth and development; Physiological processes; Phytoremediation

31

Contents

- 1. Introduction
- 2. Bisphenol A is an environmental contaminant of emerging concern
- 3. Methods for detecting bisphenol A in plants
- 4. Toxic effects of bisphenol A in plants
 - 4.1 Uptake and biotransformation of bisphenol A
 - 4.2 Morphogenesis
 - 4.2.1 Seed germination
 - 4.2.2 Plant root growth
 - 4.2.3 Aboveground organ growth
 - 4.2.4 Algae growth
 - 4.3 Physiology and biochemistry
 - 4.3.1 Mineral element absorption
 - 4.3.2 Photosynthesis
 - 4.3.3 Hormone and signal transduction
 - 4.3.4 Reactive oxygen and antioxidant system
 - 4.3.5 Reproduction and heritability
- 5. Bisphenol A plant tolerance and phytoremediation
- 6. Concluding remarks and future perspectives
- References

1. Introduction

Bisphenol A [2,2-bis (4-hydroxyphenyl) propane, BPA; CAS No. 80-05-7] was first synthesized by Russian chemist Aleksandr P. Dianin in 1891. More recently, this chemical has become known for its estrogen-like endocrine disrupting properties (Vogel, 2009; Rubin, 2011; Kobroob et al., 2018). Since 1950s, BPA has been used primarily to produce polymer materials such as epoxy resins, polycarbonates and polysulfone resins (Staples et al., 1998). BPA-based polymer materials are widely used in making industrial products, such as thermal paper, food containers, flame retardants, building materials, electronic products, and medical equipment (Wang et al., 2016; Bjornsdotter et al., 2017; Geens et al., 2012a). Because of the widespread use of these products, BPA has become one of the world's most productive chemicals (Vandenberg et al., 2007). In 2012, the global BPA exceeded 4.6 million tons, with BPA produced in Asia accounting for nearly 53% of the total production, followed by Europe (25%) and North America (18%). The United States, China, South Korea, and Japan are the four largest BPA producers worldwide (Merchant Research & Consulting Ltd, 2013). Between 2013 and 2019, global BPA production was expected to grow at an annual rate of 4.6% (Wang et al., 2016). The mass production and frequent use of BPA has resulted in its sustained release and widespread distribution in the natural environment. Soil concentrations range from 2 to 14 µg/kg of soil dry weight in the United States, and BPA has been detected at concentrations up to 140 µg/kg and 48.68 µg/kg of soil dry weight in Europe and Korea, respectively (Kwak et al., 2017). BPA has been detected in surface water and river sediments all over the world. The highest concentrations of BPA were found in river water and river sediments in Taiwan, China (up to 3 µg/L and 10.5 µg/g, respectively) (Huang et al., 2012). Furthermore, Fu and Kawamura (2010) reported the widespread presence of BPA in the atmosphere in many cities around the world. In particular,

atmospheric BPA was detected at concentrations ranging from 200 - 17,400 pg/m³ in Chennai, India. In addition, high BPA concentration (up to 17.2 mg/L) was detected in landfill leachate in Japan (Yamamoto et al., 2001) and in hazardous landfill leachate in Germany (4.2 - 25 mg/L) (Schwarzbauer et al., 2002). BPA concentrations in the effluent and sludge released from wastewater treatment plants ranged from 3 - 316 ng/L and 0.42 - 25,600 ng/g dry weight of sludge, respectively (Tran et al., 2015; Lee et al., 2015; Song et al., 2014; Yu et al., 2015). Moreover, with an increasing demand for BPA and BPA materials and the increasing disposal of BPA-containing products, the release and accumulation of BPA in the natural environment is likely to increase. Biological and toxicological experiments have confirmed that BPA can adversely impact both the environment and exposed organisms (Völkel, 2017). Therefore, it is necessary to investigate the risk that BPA may pose to contaminated ecosystems.

2. Bisphenol A is an environmental contaminant of emerging concern

BPA is considered to be an environmental contaminant of emerging concern due to its widespread presence in the environment and its endocrine disruption properties (Lunardi et al., 2016; Berhane et al., 2017). BPA can cause negative effects in the natural environment and organisms, which has attracted the attention of scientists and the public. Over the past two decades, many studies on BPA exposure have been carried out by international academia, especially studies related to human and animal health. Several published studies have reported the presence of BPA in human and animal blood, urine, adipose tissue, breast milk, placenta and amniotic fluid (Gerona et al., 2013; Chen et al., 2015; Geens et al., 2012b; Aris, 2014). Fish, amphibians, reptiles, and birds exposed to high concentrations of BPA ($> 22.8 \mu g/L$) displayed a change in sex ratio, and lower concentrations of BPA (1.75 - 5.00 $\mu g/L$) were shown to cause gonadal dysgenesis in vertebrate species (Guo et al.,

2017). BPA exposure was shown also to be associated with the development of diseases linked with reproduction and fertility, including various cancers (ovarian, breast, uterine, testicular, prostate, and liver) (Tharp et al., 2012; Fernández et al., 2010; Newbold et al., 2007; Prins et al., 2014; Nanjappa et al., 2012; Weinhouse et al., 2014). Epidemiological findings support the association between BPA exposure and increased incidence of cardiovascular disease, childhood obesity, and type II diabetes (Lang et al., 2009; Rochester, 2013; Rancière et al., 2015; Khalil et al., 2014). In addition, BPA exposure has been associated with brain sex differentiation and neurobehavioral disorders in children, leading to cognitive impairment and learning, and issues with memory faultiness (Rubin et al., 2006; Braun et al., 2017).

Because plants are primary producers in ecosystems, effects of contaminants on the survival and development of plants can affect directly or indirectly all consumers and decomposers, and that can then threaten the safety of entire ecosystem. BPA has been detected in landfill leachate, effluent and sludge released from sewage treatment plants, surface water, and air (Huang et al., 2012; Fu and Kawamura, 2010). When effluent is used to irrigate farmland (Dodgen et al., 2013), or sludge is used for soil remediation (Staples et al., 2010), or various plastic products are degraded, or landfill leachate leaks, the terrestrial and aquatic plants (such as algae) can be exposed to BPA. However, compared with amount of research that has been done on the effects of BPA on animals, there have been relatively few published studies focused on the effects of this chemical on plants. The impacts of BPA on plant growth and development are worthy of further exploration. Currently, this is the field of extensive research, with new discoveries constantly being presented. Hence, this paper aims to review research published by the international community (along with our own work) to describe the phytotoxic effects of BPA and underlying mechanisms behind BPA phytotoxicity. We aim to do

this to promote understanding of how BPA affects living organisms and provide a more comprehensive perspective for a BPA ecological risk assessment.

3. Methods for detecting bisphenol A in plants

Accurate determination of BPA content in plants is essential for quantification of the toxicological effects that this chemical can have on plant survival and metabolism. Radioisotope detection combined with high performance liquid chromatography (HPLC) was the first method used to study the fate of BPA in plants. Specifically, ¹⁴C-labeled BPA was used with cell suspension cultures to determine BPA fate in heterotrophic plants (Schmidt and Schuphan, 2002; Nakajima et al., 2004). Liquid chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-MS/MS) was also used to analyze and identify BPA residues and its metabolites in cell suspension cultures or water samples (Watanabe et al., 2012). In recent years, capillary zone electrophoresis has also been widely used to determine BPA concentrations in water samples (Zhong et al., 2011; Wang et al., 2013). To determine the BPA content in plants, plant tissues are typically processed as follows: drying, grinding, methanol extraction, centrifugation, acetonitrile extraction, and then analysis of the extracts by HPLC (Nakajima et al., 2002; Ferrara et Al., 2006; Imai et al., 2007; Saiyood et al., 2010; Loffredo et al., 2010). Several studies have characterized BPA content in fruits, vegetables and plant oils using isotope dilution combined with gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry (GC-MS/MS; Lu et al., 2012, 2013, 2015; Chai et al., 2003; Wu et al., 2016; Wang et al., 2018). The recovery rates of the standard-added analyte tested by this method were all above 90%, the limits of detection (LOD) ranged from 0.01 - 0.20 µg/kg, and the limits of quantification (LOQ) ranged from 0.04 - 0.60 µg/kg. The results showed that this method would be suitable for determining trace concentrations of typical estrogen pollutants (such as BPA) in vegetables and fruits (Lu et al., 2012, 2013). Niu et al. (2012)

8

established a technique involving liquid chromatography-electrospray ionization-tandem mass spectrometry (LC-ESI-MS/MS) coupled with solid phase extraction for the determination of BPA in cereals (including rice, corn and wheat). The target compound was extracted by acetonitrile, purified by an on-line solid phase extraction column and analyzed by LC-MS/MS in negative ion mode. The method had a LOQ of 0.5 μ g/kg for BPA in three cereals. In addition, the distribution of ¹⁴C-labeled BPA in plant organs can be indirectly analyzed by measuring ¹⁴C radioactivity in plant organs by a liquid scintillation counter (Dodgen et al., 2013).

4. Toxic effects of bisphenol A in plants

Previous studies have confirmed BPA can have a range of toxicities (from mildly toxic to moderately toxic – depending on outcome and species of interest), which can affect plant growth and development (Alexander et al., 1988; Staples et al., 1998). However, a number of studies have also shown that low doses of BPA (< 3 mg/L) can be beneficial to plant growth to a certain extent (Terouchi et al., 2004; Ali et al., 2016; Qiu et al., 2013; Pan et al., 2013; Nie et al., 2015a, 2015b; Li et al., 2018a). In the following sections, we review several plant metabolic and physiological processes that can be affected by BPA.

4.1 Uptake and biotransformation of bisphenol A

Previous studies have shown that hydrophobicity is an important factor in the diffusion and absorption of chemicals by plant species. Chemicals with octanol-water partition coefficients (log K_{ow}) between 1 and 3.5 have the greatest uptake potential by plants (Briggs et al., 2010; Dodgen et al., 2013). BPA is comparatively hydrophobic, with an estimated log K_{ow} between 2.20 and 3.82 (best estimate is log $K_{ow} = 3.40$) (Staples et al., 1998; Schmidt and Schuphan, 2002). Therefore, BPA exhibits moderate soil-sediment adsorption and bioaccumulation (Staples et al., 1998). BPA can be

rapidly biodegraded in natural waters, generally displaying a lifespan of less than 5 days, with an average half-life of 2 - 4 days (Staples et al., 1998; Kang et al., 2007). BPA bioaccumulation in aquatic organisms is generally low, but bioconcentration varies depending on organism of interest (Staples et al., 1998). Previous research has found that bioaccumulation is closely relatedly to BPA biodegradation (Kang et al., 2007). Schmidt and Schuphan (2002) first studied the absorption and metabolism of BPA in wheat, soybeans, thorn apples, and purple foxgloves using cell suspension cultures. By evaluating the distribution of ¹⁴C-labeled BPA in these cell suspension cultures, they found that the cultured plant cells generally absorbed BPA relatively rapidly. In a study on BPA uptake with intact plants (using tobacco seedlings), Nakajima et al. (2002) found that plant roots were able to absorb BPA and transfer it to leaves. However, they found that compared to stems and leaves, the partitioning of BPA was highest to tobacco seedling roots. These researchers also found that BPA absorbed by roots of tobacco seedlings could be metabolized into various compounds (e.g. D-glucoside) through glycosylation, and these metabolites are also transferred to leaves. In another study, the edible plant, water convolvulus, was also found to effectively absorb BPA via roots and metabolize it through glycosylation. However, in contrast to previous findings, the metabolites were mostly retained in the roots, moderately retained in the stems, but not retained in the leaves (Noureddin et al., 2004). Ferrara et al. (2006) evaluated the toxicity of BPA to hydroponic tomatoes, broad beans, lettuce, and durum wheat and found that although all tested plants could absorb BPA by roots, their absorptive capacities were different. BPA residues were found mostly in roots of the tested plants. Tomatoes accumulated a large amount of BPA in roots, and also transferred BPA to their branches. BPA in roots and branches of tomato seedlings did not undergo complete biotransformation and detoxification. This information was consistent with the growth inhibition that

was observed in tomatoes. In contrast, with broad beans, BPA was not detected in their buds, and only low toxicity was detected. Dodgen et al. (2013) evaluated BPA uptake and accumulation in two leafy vegetables (lettuce and collards) irrigated with reclaimed water. They found that accumulation of BPA in leaves and stems of lettuce and collards did not differ significantly, but BPA accumulation in roots was significantly higher than that in other plant tissues. By calculating a translocation factor (the total BPA amount in stems, new leaves, and original leaves divided by the amount in roots), these researchers determined that BPA was poorly transferred from roots to upper parts following uptake. Lu et al. (2015) studied the absorption and distribution of BPA in two vegetable crops (lettuce and tomato) irrigated with reclaimed water using two different methods (subsurface root exposure and overhead foliar spraying). BPA was detected in different organs (roots, stems, leaves, and fruits) of both plants in either root or leaf BPA treatments, suggesting that BPA could be absorbed by crops by roots and leaves when they are irrigated with reclaimed water. Similarly to a study by Dodgen et al. (2013), Lu et al. (2015) found that BPA has limited movement in both plant species (lettuce and tomato). However, the exposure pathway was found to affect BPA distribution in both crops. For lettuce, with the root exposure irrigation method, BPA concentration was highest in roots, followed by leaves and then stems. In contrast, using the foliar exposure treatment, the highest BPA concentration was found in leaves, followed by roots and then stems. Similarly to lettuce, in tomato BPA accumulation under subsurface root exposure was highest in roots and lowest in stems (e.g. root > fruit > leaf > stem), whereas with overhead foliar exposure BPA accumulation was highest in leaves and lowest in stems (e.g. leaf > fruit > root > stem). In general, BPA tended to be distributed more evenly between roots and leaves in lettuce, regardless of the exposure pathways, and was a tendency of low distribution of BPA in tomatoes. Wang et al. (2018) studied the migration

of BPA in a reclaimed water-irrigated soil-winter wheat system. By measuring BPA concentration in different organs (roots, stems, leaves and kernels) of winter wheat, they found that BPA concentrations in organs did not increase with an increase in initial soil BPA concentration. In all five differential dosage treatments, the highest concentration of BPA was found in roots, and BPA was not detected at all in wheat grains. Consistently, BPA has displayed the highest bioconcentration factor in roots, followed by stems and leaves, and the lowest is kernels. By calculating the attenuation rate (defined as the ratio of the loss of pollutants with respect to the amount of pollutants initially added to the soil) of BPA in the soil-winter wheat system, they determined that the total amount of BPA in soil and winter wheat accounted for 2.35 - 4.95% of the initial amount. This indicated that a large amount of BPA was likely degraded or metabolized during wheat growth (Wang et al., 2018). The authors suggested that this may be due to the fact that the hydroxyl group of BPA can interact with binary ions or compounds (such as sulfates and glucuronic acid) in the soil and form conjugated estrogens, which could alter the mobility of BPA in soil-plant system (Shrestha et al., 2012; Goepper et al., 2015). The variable capacity of plant tissues to absorb different forms of pollutants can also lead to differential distributions of pollutants in tissues (Dong et al., 2015). Previous studies have reported that pollutants with a $\log K_{ow}$ of more than 5 are more likely to get adsorbed on plant root surfaces, thus displaying limited movement in plants (Ryan et al., 1988). As the log K_{ow} of BPA is 3.40, it likely has weak migration in plants, displaying a tendency to accumulate in plant roots that tend to have high fat content (Wang et al., 2018). Finally, it has also been found that BPA biodegradation in winter wheat may not just involve the plant metabolic pathways, but also require input from soil microbes (Wang et al., 2018).

As BPA is an organic compound, it is often changed after plant absorption. Previous studies

have reported that crude enzymes (such as polyphenol oxidase and potato crude enzyme preparations) extracted from vegetables and fruits can oxidize BPA to decrease or eliminate estrogen-like activity (Yoshida et al., 2002; Xuan et al., 2002; Schmidt and Schuphan, 2002; Kang and Knodo, 2006; Matsushima et al., 2015). Schmidt and Schuphan (2002) found that plant cells could rapidly produce BPA metabolites after absorbing BPA. They pointed out that BPA was metabolized in three main ways in plant tissues: glycosylation, formation of non-extractable/non-bound residues, and formation of highly polar polymeric products. Several other studies also reported that following uptake by plant cells, BPA may be metabolized into multiple compounds via selective hydroxylation, glucosylation or redox reactions (Hamada et al., 2002; Nakajima et al., 2002, 2004, 2007; Morohoshi et al., 2003; Noureddin et al., 2004; Knodo et al., 2006). Plant defense systems also play a role in BPA metabolism. For example, in *Arabidopsis thaliana* the detoxification genes such as glutathione transferase and UDP-glucosyltransferase were overexpressed strongly after BPA exposure. Furthermore, enzymes related to reactive oxygen species (ROS) signal transduction were activated by BPA exposure (Tian et al., 2014).

In summary, the schematic diagram of BPA uptake and biotransformation by plants is shown in Figure 1. The differences in the distribution of BPA and its metabolites in plants organs may be attributed to the differences in BPA absorption capacity, metabolic pathways and transport capacity among diverse plant species. However, the initial concentrations of exogenous BPA used, the exposure time of plants to BPA, and the different detection methods used may also be the reasons for differences observed in different studies. Plants have been shown to detoxify BPA through multiple metabolic pathways (Ferrara et al., 2006). However, if a detoxification pathway is saturated, excessive concentrations of BPA can lead to bioaccumulation and induce toxic effects (Kang et al.,

2007). The physicochemical characteristics of BPA may affect its existence in the environment (i.e. environmental fate), which should be taken into account when conducting BPA ecotoxicity assessment. Furthermore, as it can be metabolized both within plants and in the external environment, the risk of BPA derivatives and primary metabolites in the ecosystem should also be considered when evaluating the total risk of this compound. In addition, human health risks should be considered. BPA is preferentially distributed in plants roots, which may lead to an increase in potential human health risks via consumption of rhizomatous vegetables, such as radishes, carrots and onions. Finally, the discovery of various metabolic pathways of BPA in plants highlights new opportunities for BPA detoxification in the environment – i.e. plants could be used as 'biofilters' to absorb and detoxify BPA from environmental media.

4.2 Morphogenesis

Plant growth and development are important biological processes for species survival and reproduction. These processes are continuous and rely mainly on external resources present in the growth environment (Shanker et al., 2005). The presence of BPA in external environments can lead to changes in the plant growth and developmental patterns.

4.2.1 Seed germination

Seed germination is the process by which the radicle and germ break through seed coat and develop into a new individual. It is the starting point of plant life. Because seed germination is the first physiological process affected by BPA, the germination capacity of seeds in BPA-containing environments reflects their tolerance to BPA. Ferrara et al. (2006) previously reported that 10 and 50 mg/L BPA exposure had no significant effects on seed germination of hydroponic lettuce, tomato, durum wheat, and broad bean. Similarly, Dogan et al. (2010) showed that germination of chickpea

14

seeds was not affected by 10 and 50 mg/L BPA treatments, but was inhibited by exposure to 100 mg/L BPA. Similarly, *Arabidopsis thaliana* seed germination began to be inhibited at doses of BPA around 68.5 mg/L (Tian et al., 2014). Loffredo et al. (2010) observed that with eight herbaceous plants [five forage grasses: fescue, white clover, Siberian wheatgrass, couch grass, and perennial ryegrass; and three horticultural species: marrow plant, cucumber and radish] there were no effects on seed germination following exposure to BPA concentrations of 4.6 mg/L and 46.0 mg/L. Mung bean seeds sowed in soil were also relatively unaffected by BPA. Even at exposures exceeding 250 mg BPA/kg soil dry weight, seed germination was only slightly affected (Kim et al., 2018). The above results showed that different concentrations of BPA can have different effects on seed germination. In general, the higher BPA concentration, the greater inhibition of seed germination. This may be related to the inhibition of energy metabolism by BPA during seed germination, but there is currently no evidence. Furthermore, at the same concentrations, the germination rates of various species were different, indicating that there were differences in BPA tolerance among seeds of various plant species.

4.2.2 Plant root growth

Plants roots are the main organs directly exposed to BPA stress. Root growth changes caused by BPA stress are the most easily recognized adverse effects associated with BPA toxicity. Several studies have shown that BPA can have varying effects on plant root growth. Indeed, a low-dose BPA (< 3 mg/L) exposure has been shown to significantly promote root growth (including root length, root volume, root surface area, and fresh/dry weight) of soybeans and *Arabidopsis thaliana* in their early growth stages (Sun et al., 2013b; Pan et al., 2013; Nie et al., 2015a; Wang et al., 2015b; Ali et al., 2016; Li et al., 2017, 2018a). We speculate that low-dose BPA has a cytokinin-like effect, which

may induce root cell elongation and proliferation, thereby promoting root growth (Terouchi et al., 2004). In addition, a low-dose BPA exposure increased the levels of indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), zeatin (ZT) and gibberellin (GA) in roots, stimulating root cell elongation and division, thereby regulating development of primary and lateral roots (Wang et al., 2015b; Li et al., 2017, 2018a). It is expected that the changes in endogenous hormone content in roots under BPA exposure are involved in root growth and development. However, the molecular mechanisms of various endogenous hormones regulating root growth and development under BPA exposure remain unclear and need further investigation. A low-dose BPA exposure also enhanced mitochondrial energy production in root cells, key enzyme activities in root respiration, and uptake of mineral elements (Nie et al., 2015a, 2015b; Xiao et al., 2019). There was a significant positive correlation between increased mineral elements and root dry matter accumulation (Nie et al., 2015a). In hydroponic lettuce, tomatoes, broad beans, and durum wheat the root morphological changes were induced by exposure to either 10 or 50 mg/L of BPA for 21 days, with effects being particularly dramatic in the 50 mg/L BPA treatment (Ferrara et al., 2006). They found that a high-dose BPA exposure was associated with a decrease in root length, increased sparsity of lateral roots, and enhanced formation of gelatinous substances, together resulting in blackening and necrosis of local roots, and decreased fresh/dry weight. Similarly, exposure to 10 - 100 mg/L BPA inhibited root growth in many plant species, including chickpeas, peas, perennial ryegrass, Siberian wheatgrass, rice, and Arabidopsis thaliana. The higher the concentrations of BPA, the more obvious the inhibitory effects on roots growth. Thus, BPA was found to affect roots in a dose-dependent manner (Dogan et al., 2010; Loffredo et al., 2010; Adamakis et al., 2013; Pan et al., 2013; Tian et al., 2014; Ali et al., 2016). Recent studies showed that BPA-induced plant root tip cell death might be one of the causes of root growth inhibition (Xiao et

al., 2019). Furthermore, BPA may have a hormesis effect, with low concentrations of BPA promoting root growth, and higher concentrations inhibiting it. Finally, the sensitivities of diverse plant roots to BPA stress differ, indicating strong species-to-specific differences.

4.2.3 Aboveground organ growth

The effects of BPA on the growth of aboveground organs (measured as plant height, stem and leaf fresh/dry weight, and/or leaf area) have been reported in a number of prior studies. Similarly to root growth (i.e. hormesis), low concentration of BPA (1.5 mg/L) increased plant height, stem fresh/dry weight, leaf fresh/dry weight and leaf area of soybean (G. max), suggesting that low-dose BPA can also promote the growth of aboveground plant organs (Qiu et al., 2013; Jiao et al., 2017b; Li et al., 2018a). In contrast, treatments with BPA at concentrations of 10 mg/L and higher can result in decreased plant growth. This has been observed with soybeans, lettuce, tomatoes, broad beans, durum wheat, and mung beans. Increasing exposure time resulted in brown spots on mung beans, etiolated leaves in Arabidopsis thaliana and broad beans, and decreased numbers of leaves and exacerbated local necrosis in lettuce (Ferrara et al., 2006; Qiu et al., 2013; Jiao et al., 2017b; Li et al., 2018a; Kim et al., 2018). Similarly, although the 5 mg/L and 10 mg/L BPA treatments had no effects on leaf growth of mangrove plant Bruguiera gymnorhiza, when BPA concentrations increased to 20, 30, 45 and 60 mg/L, the leaves became yellow and necrotic (Saiyood et al., 2013). Therefore, these results also reflect the typical hormesis effect of BPA on the aboveground parts of plants. In addition, Pan et al. (2013) found that BPA affected leaf differentiation in Arabidopsis thaliana in a light-dependent manner. The above-mentioned mechanism of BPA affecting plant growth may be related to the changes in physiological and biochemical processes (Section 4.3 Physiology and biochemistry) such as photosynthesis, mineral element uptake, endogenous hormone secretion, and

content of ROS, and even reproductive and genetic regulation.

4.2.4 Algae growth

Algae are major primary producers of aquatic ecosystems, and represent the base of the aquatic food chain. Therefore, they play an important role in maintaining the stability, diversity and function of aquatic ecosystems. However, algae (phytoplankton) are relatively sensitive to chemicals (Xiang et al., 2018). In general, for environmental pollutants, algal toxicity is assessed via growth inhibition tests (Zhang et al., 2014). The widespread presence of BPA in water bodies has drawn some attention to the potential toxic effects this chemical can have on algae. The toxicological responses of various algal species to BPA have been reported previously. Exposure to 5 mg/L BPA for 8 days had no effects on the growth of eight species of freshwater microalgae (Pseudokirchneriella subcapitata, Micractinium pusillum, Scenedesmus acutus, Coelastrum reticulatum, Carteria cerasiformis, Gonium pectoral, Scenedesmus quadricauda, and Cyanophora paradoxa), but 10 mg/L BPA was found to inhibit growth of *P. subcapitata*, while having no effects on other species (Nakajima et al., 2007). When the marine microalga, Cyclotella caspia, was exposed to a range of BPA concentrations (4 - 12 mg/L), biomass and growth rate showed a significant concentration-dependent relationship with BPA (Li et al., 2008). The 96-h EC₅₀ value (the effective concentration of BPA causing 50% algal growth inhibition after 96 hours of exposure) was calculated to be 7.96 ± 0.23 mg/L. Similar response to BPA were recorded in the marine microalga *Stephanodiscus hantzschii*, displaying the EC_{50} value of 8.65 \pm 0.26 mg/L at 96 h (Li et al., 2009). Further investigation revealed that the growth inhibition in C. caspia and S. hantzschii was due to the inhibition of cell division, cell wall decomposition, and disintegration of chlorophyll molecules and whole chloroplasts, which affected the normal physiological processes in algae cells (Li et al., 2009). In addition, BPA accumulation in S.

hantzschii was found to vary with exposure time and initial BPA concentration (Li et al., 2009). Liu et al. (2010) investigated the growth responses of diatom *Navicula incerta* to BPA exposure in marine environments. Results showed that growth rate was negatively correlated with BPA concentrations (0 - 5 mg/L), but algal cell size was not affected by BPA exposure. The 96-h EC₅₀ value for this marine diatom was 3.21 mg/L, indicating that this species was more sensitive to BPA exposure than freshwater microalgae. Based on the above results, Xiang et al. (2017) postulated that the use of a single species of algae was inadequate for assessing the effects of BPA on algae communities. In addition, these results were mainly derived using eukaryotes; hence, the comparative effects of BPA on the growth of prokaryotic (*Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* (cyanobacteria)) and eukaryotic (*S. quadricauda* (green algae)) organisms were investigated. Researchers found significant differences in BPA tolerance between these two organisms. The 96-h EC₅₀ values of BPA to *C. raciborskii* and *S. quadricauda* were 9.663 \pm 0.047 mg/L and 13.233 \pm 0.069 mg/L, respectively. Therefore, the studies show that the sensitivity to BPA exposure is highly dependent on the prokaryotic/eukaryotic nature of organisms and initial BPA concentration.

An in-depth understanding of the impact of BPA on aquatic organisms can provide useful information regarding the ecological risk assessment for this chemical. Numerous studies found that BPA can accumulate in algal cells (Li et al., 2009; Liu et al., 2010; Gattullo et al., 2012). Moreover, Guo et al. (2017) found that BPA derivatives absorbed and metabolized by algal cells were transferred from algae to rotifers. These facts illustrate the possibility of BPA accumulating throughout the aquatic food chain, which could have negative impacts on these aquatic ecosystems. On the other hand, the accumulation of BPA by algal cells could have positive consequences – providing a method for BPA bioremediation in contaminated water bodies.

4.3 Physiology and biochemistry

4.3.1 Mineral element absorption

BPA exposure has been reported to affect the absorption of mineral nutrients by plant species. Sun et al. (2013a, 2013b) reported that BPA exposure could inhibit ammonia assimilation in soybean seedling roots, resulting in insufficient soluble protein and amino acid content in roots. This was found to be associated with changes in root growth. Nie et al. (2015a, 2015b) reported that the absorption capacity of soybean roots and the activities of key respiratory enzymes (hexokinase, pyruvate kinase, phosphofructokinase, isocitrate dehydrogenase, and cytochrome C oxidase) were promoted under low concentration of BPA (1.5 mg/L), thereby enhancing uptake of mineral elements (P, Mg, K, Mn, Zn, and Mo) by roots. In addition, exposure to 1.5 mg/L BPA promoted mitochondrial energy production in root cells (Xiao et al., 2019), which may provide an energy basis for low-concentration BPA to promote root growth. At higher concentrations of BPA (> 3 mg/L), BPA inhibited the activity of key respiratory enzymes involved in root energy metabolism (Nie et al., 2015b; Xiao et al., 2019), and even destroyed the cell structural integrity (Xiao et al., 2019), resulting in a decrease in the capacity of roots to take up the above-mentioned mineral elements. It is concluded that the BPA-induced disturbance of the activity of key enzymes in the root cell respiration and the damage of cell structure may be underlying mechanisms of BPA affecting plant uptake of mineral elements.

4.3.2 Photosynthesis

Plant growth is highly dependent on photosynthesis. Therefore, if a plant photosynthetic system is destroyed or altered by exposure to environmental contaminants, plant growth is affected (Qiu et al., 2013; Jiao et al., 2017b; Kim et al., 2018). The effect of BPA on plant photosynthesis was first

described by Li et al. (2008, 2009), who found that BPA exposure can reduce chlorophyll a (Chl a) content in two different algal species (C. caspia and S. hantzschii). Cell morphology observations confirmed that BPA-induced ROS generation that damaged chloroplast membranes and led to functional changes, which was postulated to cause a decrease in Chl a content. Conversely, in a later study, Liu et al. (2010) reported that BPA had no significant effects on Chl a and total Chl c content in marine diatom (N. incerta). This difference in finding may be due to differential absorption and tolerance to BPA in different algal species. The study by Gattullo et al. (2012) found that BPA exposure damaged the photosynthetic apparatus of photosynthetic system II (PS II) in freshwater green algae (Monoraphidium braunii), decreasing both Chl a and net efficiency of the PS II. Recently, Xiang et al. (2017) investigated the effects of BPA on PS II of C. raciborskii and S. quadricauda, and found that BPA concentrations higher than 1 and 2 mg/L (respectively) could significantly decrease total Chl a concentrations. At higher concentrations (e.g. BPA = 10 mg/L), the Chl fluorescence parameters such as F_v/F_m (maximum potential quantum efficiency of PS II), $\Delta F/F_m$ ' (actual photochemical efficiency of PS II), and qP (photochemical quenching coefficient) were all significantly decreased in C. raciborskii, but not in S. quadricauda. Changes in a (initial slope of light response curve before light saturation) and $rETR_{max}$ (maximal relative electron transfer rate) obtained from the fast photoresponse curves for the two algal species following BPA exposure were similar to what was seen with F_v/F_m , $\Delta F/F_m$ ' and qP. However, the non-photochemical quenching coefficient was much higher in C. raciborskii than that S. quadricauda. These results suggest that PS II may be an *in vivo* target for BPA. The differences in physiological responses of the two algae also indicate that the effect of BPA exposure on photosynthesis likely varies with algal species and contaminant concentrations. In view of the fact that most of the above studies were focused on

eukaryotes, Xiang et al. (2018) also investigated the effects of BPA on photosynthesis of the prokaryote, *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii* (an invasive cyanobacterium). After exposure to BPA for 96 h, Chl a fluorescence was disturbed and photosynthesis was inhibited. High-throughput sequencing results showed that the expression of light-capture genes and photosynthesis-related response center complex genes (50 genes) were significantly down-regulated. In addition, a metabolic network analysis of *C. raciborskii* revealed that BPA affected many metabolic pathways involved in energy production and metabolism, including glycolysis, tricarboxylic acid cycle, and protein and fatty acid metabolism. It is speculated that interference with the electron transport on the PS II receptor side and the inhibition of cellular metabolites may be responsible for the toxicity of BPA to *C. raciborskii*.

Qiu et al. (2013) was one of the first to publish the effects of BPA on photosynthesis in higher plants. When soybean seedlings were treated with low concentration of BPA (1.5 mg/L), the net photosynthetic rate (P_n), Chl content and Chl fluorescence either increased or did not change. However, at higher concentrations of BPA (7.0, 12.0, 17.2 and 50.0 mg/L) there were significant decreases in the P_n , Chl content, F_v/F_m , Φ_{PSII} (actual photochemical yield), and *ETR*. Only F_0 (initial fluorescence) was found to increase. Correlation analysis showed that the changes in P_n of soybean seedlings exposed to BPA were associated with the changes in Chl content and the Chl fluorescence parameters (F_0 , F_v/F_m , Φ_{PSII} , *ETR*). Jiao et al. (2015, 2017a) further studied how BPA can affect Chl content in soybean seedling leaves. By quantifying the concentrations of essential intermediates and the activities of key enzyme in Chl synthesis, they confirmed that BPA exposure could interfere with Chl synthesis, leading to decreases in Chl content in the leaves. Zhang et al (2015) evaluated the effects of BPA on Chl fluorescence in five plant species, including tomato, lettuce, soybean, corn,

and rice seedlings. They found that low-dose BPA (< 3.0 mg/L) increased the efficiency of PS II, whereas high-dose BPA (10.0 mg/L) impaired the PS II reaction center in a concentration-dependent manner. Indeed, the effects of BPA were most pronounced at the highest dose of BPA (17.2 mg/L). These results were consistent with the experimental results obtained by Qiu et al. (2013), but there were differences in a degree of influence BPA exposure had on the Chl fluorescence in each of the five plants. Jiao et al. (2017b) investigated the mechanism by which BPA could affect photosynthesis using soybean seedlings, focusing on the stomatal and non-stomatal factors. They found that low dose of BPA (1.5 mg/L) increased P_n by promoting the stomatal factors, whereas high doses of BPA (17.2 and 50.0 mg/L) decreased P_n by simultaneously inhibiting the stomatal and non-stomatal factors. Correspondingly, the increase in P_n under low concentration increased the relative growth rate of soybean aboveground organs, and accelerated seedling growth; the opposite effects were observed at high concentrations (Jiao et al., 2017b). Kim et al. (2018) also found that exposure to BPA (> 500 mg BPA/kg of soil dry weight) decreased stomatal size as well as Chl a and Chl b content in leaves, and interfered with Chl fluorescence; the reduction in stomatal pore size may result in decreased nutrient uptake, leading to an inadequate supply of the nutrients requires for Chl synthesis. These findings provide a hypothesis for further characterization of how BPA can affect plant photosynthesis. Li et al. (2018b) exposed cucumber leaves (not roots) to BPA to study the mechanisms by which BPA could affect the photosynthetic apparatus. This study confirmed that BPA could directly inhibit leaf photosynthesis. However, the authors posited that this photosynthetic inhibition was not the result of BPA-induced destruction of PS II. Instead, they found that BPA mainly inhibited carbon assimilation, leading to surplus electrons in the electron transfer chains, excessive excitation of the PS II reaction centers, and excessive production of ROS under high-light

conditions. Indeed, accumulation of ROS can inhibit the repair of photo-damaged PS II and exacerbate PS II photoinhibition under strong-light conditions. Furthermore, they did not observe significant differences in Chl content between the different treatments, thus concluding that the inactivation of photosynthetic machinery caused by BPA was not likely to be associated with the degradation of photosynthetic pigments. Tian et al. (2014) used microarray analysis to study the changes in gene expression in *Arabidopsis thaliana* in response to BPA stress, and found that exposure could elicit a down-regulation of mRNA involved in photosynthesis. In addition, they found that photosynthesis, Chl content, and expression of targeted chloroplast proteins were also reduced following exposure to BPA.

4.3.3 Hormone and signal transduction

It is well known that plant growth at the cellular level depends on cell division, expansion and differentiation. Indole-3-acetic acid (IAA), zeatin (ZT), gibberellin (GA), abscisic acid (ABA) and ethylene (ETH) are key endogenous hormones regulating the growth and development of plant cells. The changes in their contents are the internal factors affecting the growth of plant cells (Pozo et al., 2005). For example, IAA and ZT can promote cell division and elongation, regulate the development of primary and lateral roots and promote leaf growth; whereas high concentration of free auxin inhibits root growth (Pozo et al., 2005; Saini et al. 2013; Pan et al., 2013). ETH is involved in regulating root growth by affecting cell expansion, and increased ABA level inhibits primary root cell division and differentiation, and may also inhibit IAA and ZT synthesis (Popko et al., 2010; Swarup et al., 2007; Zhang et al, 2010; Li et al., 2014). In plant leaves, ETH and ABA indirectly affect leaf growth by regulating stomatal behavior (Mustilli et al., 2002; Tanaka et al., 2005). Under normal environmental conditions, the contents and proportions of these hormones are in relative

equilibrium. However, when external stresses occur, this homeostasis is disrupted by the individual action and crosstalk of hormones (Pozo et al., 2005; Wang et al., 2015b). Studies have revealed that BPA exposure could interfere with the secretion of endogenous hormones (IAA and ZT) and the ratio of growth-promoting hormones to stress hormones (ABA/IAA, ABA/GA, ABA/ZT, ETH/IAA, ETH/ZT) in roots, thereby affecting plant biological properties, manifested in the growth changes of roots and leaves. For example, exposure to low concentrations of BPA (0.8, 1.5 mg/L) increased IAA and ZT levels in roots, which promoted root growth, and increased IAA levels in leaves promoted leaf growth (Wang et al., 2015b; Li et al., 2017, 2018a). However, under high BPA (17.2 mg/L) exposure, both IAA and ZT contents in roots decreased, whereas ABA content increased; IAA content in leaves decreased, and ABA and ETH levels increased (Wang et al., 2015b; Li et al., 2017, 2018a). Overall, changes in these hormone levels under high BPA exposure resulted in inhibition of root and leaf growth. Recent studies have reported that genistein levels in mung bean can change after exposure to BPA (Kim et al., 2018). This finding is noteworthy because it means that plant can also display estrogenic changes after exposure to typical endocrine disruptors such as BPA. It is postulated that phytoestrogens are a plant defense mechanism that controls the reproduction of herbivores to protect plant populations (Hughes, 1988). Therefore, it is speculated that these changes in genistein levels may be a defense response of mung bean to external chemical stress (Kim et al., 2018). In another study, Terouchi et al. (2004) treated soybean callus with both BPA and ZT (an original cytokinin in plants). They found that both chemicals increased the fresh weight of soybean callus, but the effect of 0.1 mg/L BPA on the fresh weight of soybean callus was stronger than that of ZT. They also cultured callus from carrot roots in BPA-containing medium for 40 days, and found that low concentrations of BPA (0.1 mg/L) induced differentiation and germination, whereas high

concentration of BPA (10 mg/L) inhibited budding. These experimental results showed that low concentrations of BPA can promote plant growth and tissue differentiation by acting like cytokinin. Terouchi et al. (2010) found that in Arabidopsis response regulators (ARRs), mRNA transcription levels were affected by BPA exposure in a way that was similar to how cytokinin-induced ARRs participate in His-to-Asp phosphoric acid transfer signal transduction. This study was the first evidence that BPA could play a role in intracellular signal transduction. Furthermore, Frejd et al. (2016) found that BPA can disrupt the expression of hormone signaling transduction genes (e.g. the Arabidopsis auxin gene or ethylene synthesis/response transcription factors), and that this disruption could be one of the mechanisms underpinning BPA effects on plant flowering. Ali et al (2017) investigated the role of ethylene in BPA-induced oxidative stress in plant using wild-type, ethylene-insensitive Arabidopsis mutants (ein2-1 and etr1-3) as test materials. They found that BPA induced an increase in ROS, lipid peroxidation and other oxidative stress markers, which indicated that BPA-mediated toxicity could involve an oxidative stress pathway. Overall, they found that the wild-type Arabidopsis was more affected by BPA than the ein2-1 and etr1-3 mutants. Antioxidant enzyme activity and antioxidant-related genes expression revealed that the antioxidant defense systems of the two mutants were activated more efficiently than that of the wild-type Arabidopsis, which suggested that ethylene perception and signaling might be involved in regulating BPA-induced oxidative stress responses in plants. Speranza et al. (2011) found that BPA induced substantial changes in the hormone environment in pollen tubes of kiwifruit, resulting in excessive production of 17 β-estradiol, progesterone and testosterone. They believed that the strong inhibitory effect of BPA on the emergence and elongation of kiwifruit pollen tubes observed was related at least partly to a dramatic imbalance of steroid hormones in pollen tube tissues.

4.3.4 Reactive oxygen and antioxidant system

Under normal circumstances, plants maintain a dynamic balance of ROS levels (using antioxidant systems). Under high stress scenarios, the balance is disturbed, allowing for ROS to accumulate, which can cause membrane lipid peroxidation in plant cells (Breusegem et al., 2001). In the process of plant evolution, a protective antioxidant system (including antioxidant protease system and antioxidant substances) was formed to handle this external ROS stress. The antioxidant system can effectively resist external stresses to a degree, but when the stress intensity exceeds the resistance threshold the damage occurs (Foreman et al., 2003; Czarnocka and Karpinski, 2018). The effects of BPA on the antioxidant system of plant species were first seen when research groups evaluated the toxicity of BPA to algae. Exposure of C. caspia (early growth stage) to BPA (4 - 6 mg/L) enhanced the activity of superoxide dismutase (SOD), which effectively eliminated ROS allowing the algal cells to maintain normal physiological functions and morphology. However, exposure to high concentrations of BPA (10 - 12 mg/L) and the prolonged exposure time led to excessive production and accumulation of ROS in algal cells, overwhelming the scavenging capacities of SOD and other components of the antioxidant system, and resulting in peroxidation damage in algal cells (Li et al., 2008). Furthermore, Liu et al. (2010) found that activities of SOD and glutathione transferase in a marine diatom (N. incerta) were positively correlated with BPA concentrations. Zhang et al. (2014) evaluated the acute and chronic toxicity of BPA in *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* and *Scenedesmus obliquus*, and found that at all BPA concentrations SOD and catalase (CAT) activities were elevated in both algae. In contrast, the antioxidant systems of different species have also been shown to respond differently to BPA exposure (Xiang et al., 2017). For example, SOD activity was more sensitive to BPA stress in S. quadricauda than C. raciborskii, whereas for CAT activity, C. raciborskii was found

to be the more sensitive algal species. This indicates that the two algal species likely exhibit different protection mechanisms against BPA stress. Indeed, *C. raciborskii* had the potential to prevent oxidative damage by increasing the antioxidant enzyme CAT activity, whereas *S. quadricauda* was protected by both CAT and SOD activities. Thus, and in accordance with previous findings, *S. quadricauda* was protected by increasing the antioxidant enzyme CAT activity, *S. quadricauda* is likely to be more tolerant to BPA stress. Increases in SOD and CAT activities in response to BPA stress suggest that there was as overproduction of superoxide anion (O₂·⁻). However, after a specific threshold concentration of BPA was exceeded, antioxidant compounds and enzymes were not sufficient to withstand abnormal increase in hydrogen peroxide (H₂O₂) and ROS levels, which was reflected in the significant increase in malondialdehyde (MDA) observed in algal cells at concentrations of 5, 10 and 20 mg/L of BPA, indicating that algal cells were undergoing peroxidative damage (Xiang et al., 2017).

Studies on the effects of BPA on the antioxidant systems of higher plant species have also been conducted. BPA was found to stimulate the production of ROS (e.g. H₂O₂) in root cells of chickpeas, suggesting that BPA induced an oxidative stress response in root cells, although the mechanism by which BPA triggered ROS production was unclear (Dogan et al., 2010). In addition, MDA content in chickpea roots was found to increase with increasing BPA concentrations, and the concentration of H₂O₂ was positively correlated with the MDA content. Peroxidation damage to roots caused by BPA exposure was confirmed via histochemical staining, which indicated that the plasma membrane integrity of root cells was damaged by oxidative stress induced by BPA exposure. In addition, BPA exposure was found to stimulate ROS production in these plants, resulting in a decrease in the protein content in roots, which was likely due to the use of antioxidant proteins (such as glutathione)

for scavenging excessive ROS (Dogan et al., 2010). Wang et al. (2015a) found that soybean seedling roots exposed to low concentration of BPA (1.5 mg/L) displayed mild membrane lipid peroxidation, but did not activate the antioxidant system; whereas higher concentrations of BPA (> 3.0 mg/L) induced ROS production, activated antioxidant system, and exacerbated membrane lipid peroxidation. Similarly, another study showed that the level of lipid peroxidation in rice seedlings increased in a dose-independent manner (along with the increase in BPA concentration), and that the H₂O₂ and hydroxyl radical (·OH) content corresponded to the pattern of lipid peroxidation (Ali et al., 2016). The adverse effects of BPA on rice seedlings were related to oxidative stress (Ali et al., 2016). However, as increased oxidative stress and lipid peroxidation might affect antioxidant enzyme activities, there could have been other attenuating factors. The activities of key antioxidant enzymes (SOD, CAT and ascorbate peroxidase) increased following exposure to low concentrations of BPA (2.3, 11.4 and 22.8 mg/L), which could be considered as a cellular defense mechanism against external stress. Yet, the increase in antioxidant enzymes activity in the seedlings treated with the highest concentration of BPA (45.7 mg/L) suggested that BPA exposure at this concentration might have overwhelmed the plant self-defense system, resulting in cell structural and functional damage (Ali et al., 2016). In contrast to previous studies, Zhang et al. (2018) found that when soybean root cells were exogenously exposed to 1.5 and 3.0 mg/L of BPA, ROS could demonstrate a degree of protection. Indeed, ROS were shown to participate in the degradation of BPA, decreasing the concentration of BPA in plants, and thereby reducing the damage caused by BPA exposure. This dose-response relationship and the discovery of the protective activity of ROS are important when trying to understand the complex mechanisms behind BPA phytoremediation and when trying to assess the risks of BPA in the environment.

4.3.5 Reproduction and heritability

Several studies have reported that BPA can affect the reproductive behavior of plants (Speranza et al., 2011; Chang et al., 2015; Jadhav et al., 2012). In an *in vitro* study with kiwifruit, Speranza et al. (2011) found that the emergence and elongation of pollen tubes were inhibited in a dose-dependent manner at a BPA concentration greater than 10 mg/L, and the pollen tubes were obviously distorted under BPA concentrations of 30 mg/L. Another study by Chang et al. (2015) also reported that BPA exposure had a dose-dependent inhibition effect on pollen tube germination and elongation in the gymnosperm *Picea meyeri*. Further investigation revealed that BPA dissipated calcium ion (Ca²⁺) concentration gradient by acting on Ca²⁺ channels and disrupting the actin filaments (AFs) organization in the pollen tubes of *P. meyeri*. This resulted in abnormal actin-dependent vesicle trafficking and further affected the deposition of cell wall components. This was suggested as a toxic mechanism of BPA concerning the growth of pollen tube tips (Chang et al., 2015). In a broader context, the activity of BPA may pose a potential threat to the reproductive success of higher plants.

Jadhav et al. (2012) evaluated the genotoxic effect of BPA by examining chromosomal aberration (CA) in root meristem cells of onion. The results showed that 50 mg/L BPA can induce CA in onion root cells, and under 200 mg/L BPA exposure can disrupt the cell mitotic process (mitotic index, mitotic phase difference, micronuclear) and inhibit root growth. Furthermore, they found that this cell damage may be passed on to offspring. Adamakis et al. (2013) found that BPA exposure can inhibit mitosis and cause abnormal chromosome morphology in the root meristem cells of pea seedlings. They postulated that this might be attributed to the destruction of root tip cytoskeletal microtubule arrays (MTs) under BPA exposure, and that MTs may be the main subcellular target of BPA toxicity in plants. Furthermore, Adamakis et al. (2016) investigated the

effect of BPA on mitosis in root tip cells of the gymnosperm Abies cephalonica, and found that BPA can induce CA in root tip cells, resulting from mitotic microtubule disorders. This is consistent with the effects of BPA on MTs observed in the root tip meristem region of pea seedlings. Further studies have confirmed that BPA can indirectly affect endoplasmic reticulum (ER) in A. cephalonica cells by inducing damage to MTs. Using immunohistochemical analysis of ER in BPA-exposed cells, the morphological changes in ER were confirmed to be the result of pathological changes in MTs. In addition, BPA was shown to act as a destructive agent for cell MTs, inducing the formation of multipolar spindles, which might be related to the centrosomal properties of gymnosperms. As there is typically a dynamic interaction between MTs and AFs, the effects of BPA on the two basic components of the plant cytoskeleton are likely related. Therefore, Stavropoulou et al. (2018) investigated the effects of BPA on AFs in apical meristem cells and leaf cells of maize. The results showed that BPA could rapidly destroy actin in a concentration- and time-dependent manner. First the filaments were affected, followed by the subcortical bundles, which formed a rod-like and circular conformation. The observed difference in sensitivity between protodermal and cortical cells was likely due to a deeper position of the latter. The sensitivity of AFs to BPA depends on the integrity of MTs. As the concentrations of BPA used were much higher than what would likely be found in the environment, Adamakis et al. (2018) also investigated the effects of environmentally relevant BPA concentrations (0.03 - 3 µg/L) on leaf elongation and cytoskeleton (MTs and AFs) in the seagrass Cymodocea nodosa. They found that the highest BPA concentration (3 µg/L) significantly affected leaf elongation at the beginning of the experiment, and cytoskeleton disturbance was observed even at lower concentrations. Indeed, MTs were initially disrupted at 0.1 µg/L (i.e., "lowest observed effect concentrations", LOECs), whereas AFs were destroyed at even lower concentrations

(around 0.03 μ g/L). AFs thus appeared to be more sensitive to low BPA concentrations than MTs. Furthermore, there was also a correlation between leaf elongation damage and MTs defects. Therefore, in this particular species and at BPA concentrations ranging from 0.03 - 3 μ g/L, AFs damage, MTs disruption, and leaf elongation impairment appear to be the sensitive biomarkers of BPA stress.

5. Bisphenol A plant tolerance and phytoremediation

Phytoremediation is considered to be an economical and green biotechnology, which is focused on the concept of eliminating pollutants from soil or water bodies via absorption, transfer and biotransformation/biodegradation by plants. Sufficient evidence has shown that BPA can be absorbed by algae and higher plants and metabolized to mildly toxic or non-toxic forms through hydroxylation, glycosylation or redox reactions (Yoshida et al., 2002; Xuan et al., 2002; Schmidt and Schuphan, 2002; Nakajima et al., 2002, 2004, 2007; Hamada et al., 2002; Kondo et al., 2006; Watanabe et al., 2012). This provides a possibility of using phytoremediation for BPA pollution in water and soil.

The existing studies have reported the use of freshwater green algae and marine microalgae to decontaminate simple water systems containing BPA, achieving positive results (Hirooka et al., 2003, 2005; Nakajima et al., 2007; Li et al., 2008; Gattullo et al., 2012; Ouada et al., 2018). Hirooka et al. (2003, 2005) reported that under photoautotrophic conditions, green algae *Chlorella fusca* had a strong capacity to scavenge BPA at concentrations ranging from 2.3 - 18.3 mg/L, and that scavenging was actually the result of cell biodegradation, not just simple accumulation in cells. Because the high BPA concentrations have been detected in the environment (e.g. up to 17.2 mg/L in landfill leachate) (see Introduction), *C. fusca* could be a useful organism to use in BPA removal (e.g. for landfill leachate)

found that the photodegradation of BPA was enhanced in simulated lake water containing algae (*Chlorella vulgaris*), humic acid and ferric ions (Fe³⁺). When humic acid was proportional to Fe³⁺ (4 mg/L humic acid, 20 mol/L Fe^{3+}), the photodegradation efficiency of BPA was the highest. Li et al. (2009) reported that the marine diatom S. hantzschii isolated from the tidal water of the Futian Mangrove Reserve in Shenzhen, China, had a high removal capacity for BPA in media containing low BPA concentrations. S. hantzschii showed strong resistance to BPA at low concentration (< 3.00 mg/L), and efficiently bioaccumulated and biodegraded this chemical contaminant. Indeed, after treatment for 16 days the diatom removed 88%, 99%, 92%, 61%, 48%, 28%, and 26% of BPA from media supplemented with 0.01, 0.10, 1.00, 3.00, 5.00, 7.00, and 9.00 mg/L BPA, respectively. Gattullo et al. (2012) studied the capacity of freshwater alga (M. braunii) to remove BPA from aquatic environments, and found that M. braunii both tolerated BPA at concentrations up to 4.0 mg/L and efficiently removed BPA after 4 days of growth. Thus, M. braunii appears to be a promising species for phytoremediation of BPA from aquatic environments. However, further detailed studies would be required to determine how to successfully cultivate algae that maintain a high BPA removal capacity outdoors. Ouada et al. (2018) recently isolated an extremophilic microalgae strain with high tolerance to BPA from an alkaline, wastewater and household sewage pond. This microalga, Picocystis (an alkaliphilic chlorophyta), was shown to be resistant to low concentrations of BPA (0 -25 mg/L) (i.e. no inhibitory effects on the growth and photosynthesis during 5 days of exposure), and relatively resistant to higher BPA concentrations (50 and 75 mg/L) (i.e. growth inhibition rate did not exceed 43%). Furthermore, this microalga was found to efficiently remove BPA, displaying removal rates of 75% and 42%, respectively, at 25 mg/L and 75 mg/L BPA. The high tolerance and high removal capacity of *Picocystis* make it a promising species for BPA bioremediation.

Several higher plant species have also been reported to remove BPA effectively, including Portulaca oleracea, Rumex crispus, rice, water hyacinth, Phragmites australis, Salvia cultivars, Dracaena sanderiana, and several herbaceous species (Imai et al., 2007; Takahashi et al., 2005; Kang and Kondo, 2006; Toyama et al., 2009; Okuhata et al., 2010; Saiyood et al., 2010; Suyamud et al., 2018; Loffredo et al., 2010). Out of more than 100 different plant species studied, Imai et al. (2007) found that *P. oleracea* was the best at rapidly removing BPA from wastewater. Their results showed that for BPA concentration below 11.4 mg/L, there was almost 100% removal within 24 hours. Even at concentration of 114 mg/L, more than 95% of initial BPA was removed after 100 hours. Furthermore, they also found that removal of BPA by P. oleracea was not dependent on light conditions, and was not affected by temperature within the range of 15 - 30 °C. However, Okakuta et al. (2010) argued that although *P. oleracea* was a promising plant for removal of organic pollutants in warm areas, it is sensitive to low temperatures and thus not suitable for low-temperature regions. Instead, these researchers used cold-resistant Salvia plants to study their capacity to be used in BPA phytoremediation. The selected 25 cultivars of Salvia plants showed a high removal capacity for BPA, which might have been due to the abundant quantity of aromatic secondary metabolites (such as terpenoids and phenolics) contained in the root tips, and the lipophilic properties of plant roots (allowing them to take up and metabolize BPA well). Loffredo et al. (2010) studied the removal efficiency of BPA by eight herbaceous plants (five forage grasses and three horticultural species; see 4.2.1 section) in hydroponics during seed germination and growth stages. They found that BPA was absorbed and biotransformed during the germination and seedling growth stages, and that the tested forage grasses removed BPA more efficiently than the horticultural species. However, the optimal plant species, best suited for phytoremediation of BPA was not determined. In addition, they also

found that microbial decomposition promoted by root secretion also contributed to the removal of BPA. Saiyood et al. (2010) evaluated D. sanderiana and Dracaena fragrans (as representatives of tropical evergreen plants with fibrous roots) for their BPA tolerance and uptake capacity to determine if these plants represent good phytoremediators. D. sanderiana was found to exhibit higher tolerance and BPA removal than D. fragrans, and was found to tolerate up to 18.4 mg/L of BPA. D. sanderiana plants were found to secrete extracellular polysaccharide mucus in the non-sterile growth systems, possibly serving as a protective barrier against BPA toxicity. In addition, the study reported that bacteria adhering to the root surface played an important role in BPA biodegradation and enhanced BPA dissipation in hydroponics. Finally, they tried to use D. sanderiana to remove BPA from hazardous landfill leachate (BPA concentrations ranging from 7.8 to 15.5 mg/L). During the 20-day treatment, D. sanderiana plants survived without any signs of damage. These plants were found to tolerate BPA toxicity in the leachate and remove up to 60% of initial BPA (at 7.8 mg/L). Based on the above findings, Suyamud et al. (2018) screened two plant growth-promoting bacterial strains, Bacillus thuringiensis and Pantoea dispersa to use as inocula to D. sanderiana. Compared non-inoculated and B. thuringiensis-inoculated plants, the plants inoculated with P. dispersa showed a higher removal efficiency for BPA. This result was likely due to a higher population of the endophytic inoculant P. dispersa within plant tissues, which maintained the physiological levels of IAA required by the plant and decreased the level of intracellular ROS produced due to BPA exposure, decreasing BPA toxicity. This study also suggested that not all plant growth-promoting endophytic bacteria could improve BPA removal efficiency. Before using plant inoculation to enhance phytoremediation, the efficiencies of different bacterial inoculation and submersion times should be considered. Therefore, it is necessary to further identify and characterize the optimal plants

for decreasing or eliminating BPA pollution, and to explore the potential for applying microorganisms when using phytoremediation for BPA pollution.

6. Concluding remarks and future perspectives

In the paper, we reviewed the current knowledge about the effects of BPA on growth and physiological status of various plant species. A comprehensive description of BPA phytotoxicity, based on current research, is presented in Figure 2. However, with the current state of research, it is still difficult to gain a comprehensive understanding of the toxicological and ecological effects of BPA contamination. This can make it difficult for environmental managers to establish an accurate framework for assessing environmental risks of BPA and to develop protectionary practices to use against BPA pollution. Regarding plants and phytoremediation, future research should focus on the following four aspects:

1. To improve environmental monitoring and risk assessment, it is necessary to identify BPA-sensitive plant species in natural plant populations, and characterize sensitive biological traits and growth stages. Indeed, using this research, a macroscopic visual index system that can predict the occurrence of BPA pollution in time and be used to succinctly and quickly evaluate the risk of BPA pollution to plant populations should be established. Further identification of specific biomarkers associated with BPA stress and characterization of the dose-response relationships of various plant species and BPA would greatly supplement this macro-visual index and aid in risk assessment.

2. The effects of BPA on morphology and ultrastructure of plant cells should be studied. This could reveal BPA-induced changes in physiological and biochemical processes, and represent a microscopic basis that could explain macroscopic effects of BPA exposure in plants. Changes in

36

morphology and ultrastructure of plant cells may underpin a series of abnormal physiological activities in plants under external stress and may help elucidate mechanisms of BPA phytotoxicity at the cellular level.

3. Continue to carry out in-depth research on the effects of BPA on plant signal transduction. Plant signal transduction systems enable plants to perceive environmental stimuli and transmit signals to cells, inducing plant responses, regulating gene expression, and changing cell metabolism to adapt to the growing environment. When plants are subjected to BPA stress, they can produce large amounts of ROS (Wang et al., 2015a; Zhang et al., 2018; Ali et al., 2016, 2017). ROS, as a signal messenger, triggers stress responses in plant antioxidant systems (Czarnocka and Karpinski, 2018). Previous studies have reported that BPA can have a cytokinin-like function (Terouchi et al., 2004) and also that ethylene can participate in BPA-induced oxidative stress (Ali et al., 2017). So, it is important to determine what roles other plant hormones such as ABA, auxin, gibberellin, and salicylic acid play in BPA toxicity.

4. Determine how BPA exposure can affect cellular biochemical reactions. Many studies have reported that BPA can affect plant cell physiological and biochemical reactions. These biochemical reactions are essentially enzymatic reactions at room temperature. So, it is of high theoretical value to explore the mechanisms behind BPA-dependent regulation of enzyme activity in plant cell biochemical reactions, as well as the expression of genes controlling the synthesis of related enzymes. Unfortunately, there are few research reports on these aspects at present.

Studies on the mechanisms of BPA toxicity in plants have gradually expanded from those exploring the BPA influence on physiological and biochemical processes to those focusing on effects on cytological and molecular mechanisms. Only through a multi-faceted and multi-level systematic

37

research approach can we provide a solid theoretical basis for the scientific evaluation of the ecological risk of BPA. However, there are still some deficiencies in the current studies. Most studies on BPA pollution and its effects on terrestrial plants are carried out in hydroponic systems. Thus, they exclude the roles of soil and soil microbes. Therefore, results obtained in the current research need to be confirmed in the natural soil-plant systems. This will allow the inclusion of more reliable scientific information when establishing environmental regulations and performing risk assessments for BPA in terrestrial environments.

Conflict of interest

All authors declare no conflict of interest and approve the manuscript.

References

- Adamakis, I.D.S., Panteris, E., Cherianidou, A., Eleftheriou, E.P., 2013. Effects of bisphenol A on the microtubule arrays in root meristematic cells of *Pisum sativum* L. Mutat. Res. 750(1-2), 111-120. DOI: 10.1016/j.mrgentox.2012.10.012
- Adamakis, I.D.S., Panteris, E., Eleftheriou, E.P., 2016. Bisphenol A disrupts microtubules and induces multipolar spindles in dividing root tip cells of the gymnosperm *Abies cephalonica*. Chemosphere 149, 202-210. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2016.01.082
- Adamakis, I.S., Malea, P., Panteris, E., 2018. The effects of bisphenol A on the seagrass *Cymodocea* nodosa: leaf elongation impairment and cytoskeleton disturbance. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 157, 431-440. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.04.005
- Alexander, H.C., Dill, D.C., Smith, L.W., Guiney, P.D., Dorn, P., 1988. Bisphenol A: acute aquatic toxicity. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 7(1), 19-26. DOI: 10.1002/etc.5620070104
- Ali, I., Liu, B., Farooq, M.A., Islam, F., Azizullah, A., Yu, C., Su, W., Gan, Y., 2016. Toxicological effects of bisphenol A on growth and antioxidant defense system in *Oryza sativa* as revealed by ultrastructure analysis. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 124, 277-284. DOI:
 - 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2015.10.027
- Ali, I., Jan, M., Wakeel, A., Azizullah, A., Liu, B., Islam, F., Ali, A., Daud, M.K., Liu, Y., Gan, Y.,
 2017. Biochemical responses and ultrastructural changes in ethylene insensitive mutants of *Arabidopsis thialiana* subjected to bisphenol A exposure. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 144, 62-71.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.06.015
- Aris, A., 2014. Estimation of bisphenol A (BPA) concentrations in pregnant women, fetuses and nonpregnant women in Eastern Townships of Canada. Reprod. Toxicol. 45, 8-13. DOI:

10.1016/j.reprotox.2013.12.006

- Berhane, T.M., Levy, J., Krekeler, M.P.S., Danielson, N.D., 2017. Kinetic sorption of contaminants of emerging concern by a palygorskite-montmorillonite filter medium. Chemosphere 176, 231-242. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.02.068
- Björnsdotter, M.K., Boer, J.D., Ballesteros-Gómez, A., 2017. Bisphenol A and replacements in thermal paper: a review. Chemosphere 182, 691-706. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.05.070
- Braun, J.M., Muckle, G., Arbuckle, T., Bouchard, M.F., Fraser, W.D., Ouellet, E., Séguin, J.R.,
 Oulhote, Y., Webster, G.M., Lanphear, B.P., 2017. Associations of prenatal urinary bisphenol A concentrations with child behaviors and cognitive abilities. Environ. Health Perspect. 125(6), 067008. DOI: 10.1289/EHP984
- Breusegem, F.V., Vranová, E., Dat, J.F., Inzé, D., 2001. The role of active oxygen species in plant signal transduction. Plant Sci. 161(3), 405-414. DOI: 10.1016/S0168-9452(01)00452-6
- Briggs, G.G., Bromilow, R.H., Evans, A.A., 2010. Relationships between lipophilicity and root uptake and translocation of non- ionised chemicals by barley. Pest Manag. Sci. 13(5), 495-504.
 DOI: 10.1002/ps.2780130506
- Chai, W., Sakamaki, H., Kitanaka, S., Saito, M., Horiuchi, C.A., 2003. Biodegradation of bisphenol A by cultured cells of *Caragana chamlagu*. Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 67(1), 218-220. DOI: 10.1271/bbb.67.218
- Chang, T., Fan, C., Man, Y., Zhou, J., Jing, Y., 2015. Bisphenol A affects germination and tube growth in *Picea meyeri* pollen through modulating Ca²⁺ flux and disturbing actin-dependent vesicular trafficking during cell wall construction. Plant Physiol. Biochem. 94, 216-224. DOI: 10.1016/j.plaphy.2015.06.010

- Chen, M., Fan, Z., Zhao, F., Gao, F., Mu, D., Zhou, Y., Shen, H., Hu, J., 2015. Occurrence and maternal transfer of chlorinated bisphenol A and nonylphenol in pregnant women and their matching embryos. Environ. Sci. Technol. 50(2), 970-977. DOI: 10.1021/acs.est.5b04130
- Czarnocka, W., Karpiński, S., 2018. Friend or foe? reactive oxygen species production, scavenging and signaling in plant response to environmental stresses. Free Radic. Biol. Med. 122, 4-20.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.freeradbiomed.2018.01.011
- Dodgen, L.K., Li, J., Parker, D., Gan, J.J., 2013. Uptake and accumulation of four PPCP/EDCs in two leafy vegetables. Environ. Pollut. 182, 150-156. DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2013.06.038
- Dogan, M., Yumrutas, O., SaygiDeger, S.D., Korkunc, M., Gulnaz, O., Sokmen, A., 2010. Effects of bisphenol A and tetrabromobisphenol A on chickpea roots in germination stage.
 American-Eurasian J. Agric. Environ. Sci. 9, 186-192.
- Dong, C.D., Chen, C.W., Chen, C.F., 2015. Seasonal and spatial distribution of 4-nonylphenol and
 4-tert-octylphenol in the sediment of Kaohsiung Harbor, Taiwan. Chemosphere 134, 588-597.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.10.082
- Fernández, M., Bourguignon, N., Lux-Lantos, V., Libertun, C., 2010. Neonatal exposure to bisphenol A and reproductive and endocrine alterations resembling the polycystic ovarian syndrome in adult rats. Environ. Health. Perspect. 118(9), 1217-1222. DOI: 10.1289/ehp.0901257
- Ferrara, G., Loffredo, E., Senesi, N., 2006. Phytotoxic, clastogenic and bioaccumulation effects of the environmental endocrine disruptor bisphenol A in various crops grown hydroponically. Planta 223(5), 910-916. DOI: 10.1007/s00425-005-0147-2
- Foreman, J., Demidchik, V., Bothwell, J.H.F., Mylona, P., Miedema, H., Torres, M.A., Linstead, P., Costa, S., Brownlee, C., Jones, J.D.G., Davies, J.M., Dolan, L., 2003. Reactive oxygen species

produced by NADPH oxidase regulate plant cell growth. Nature 422(6930), 442-446. DOI: 10.1038/nature01485

- Frejd, D., Dunaway, K., Hill, J., Maanen, J.V., Carlson, C., 2016. The genomic and morphological effects of bisphenol A on *Arabidopsis thaliana*. PLoS One. 11(9), e0163028. DOI: 10.1371/journal.pone.0163028
- Fu, P., Kawamura, K., 2010. Ubiquity of bisphenol A in the atmosphere. Environ. Pollut. 158(10), 3138-3143. DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2010.06.040
- Gattullo, C.E., Bährs, H., Steinberg, C.E.W., Loffredo, E., 2012. Removal of bisphenol A by the freshwater green alga *Monoraphidium braunii* and the role of natural organic matter. Sci. Total Environ. 416, 501-506. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2011.11.033
- Geens, T., Aerts, D., Berthot, C., Bourguignon, J.P., Goeyens, L., Lecomte, P., Maghuin-Rogister, G., Pironnet, A.M., Pussemier, L., Scippo, M.L., Loco, J.V., Covaci, A., 2012a. A review of dietary and non-dietary exposure to bisphenol-A. Food Chem. Toxicol. 50(10), 3725-3740. DOI: 10.1016/j.fct.2012.07.059
- Geens, T., Neels, H., Covaci, A., 2012b. Distribution of bisphenol-A, triclosan and n-nonylphenol in human adipose tissue, liver and brain. Chemosphere 87(7), 796-802. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.01.002
- Gerona, R.R., Woodruff, T.J., Dickenson, C.A., Pan, J., Schwartz, J.M., Sen, S., Friesen, M.M.,
 Fujimoto, V.Y., Hunt, P.A., 2013. Bisphenol-A (BPA), BPA glucuronide, and BPA sulfate in
 mid-gestation umbilical cord serum in a northern and central California population. Environ. Sci.
 Technol. 47(21), 12477-12485. DOI: 10.1021/es402764d

Goeppert, N., Dror, I., Berkowitz, B., 2015. Fate and transport of free and conjugated estrogens

during soil passage. Environ. Pollut. 206, 80-87. DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2015.06.024

- Guo, R., Du, Y., Zheng, F., Wang, J., Wang, Z., Ji, R., Chen, J., 2017. Bioaccumulation and elimination of bisphenol A (BPA) in the alga *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* and the potential for trophic transfer to the rotifer *Brachionus calyciflorus*. Environ. Pollut. 227, 460-467. DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2017.05.010
- Hamada, H., Tomi, R., Asada, Y., Furuya, T., 2002. Phytoremediation of bisphenol A by cultured suspension cells of *Eucalyptus perriniana* regioselective hydroxylation and glycosylation.
 Tetrahedron Lett. 43(22), 4087-4089. DOI: 10.1016/S0040-4039(02)00647-0
- Hirooka T; Akiyama Y; Tsuji N; Nakamura T; Nagase H; Hirata K; Miyamoto K., 2003. Removal of hazardous phenols by microalgae under photoautotrophic conditions. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 95(2), 200-203. DOI: 10.1016/s1389-1723(03)80130-5
- Hirooka, T., Nagase, H., Uchida, K., Hiroshige, Y., Ehara, Y., Nishikawa, J., Nishihara, T., Miyamoto,
 K., Hirata, Z., 2005. Biodegradation of bisphenol A and disappearance of its estrogenic activity
 by the green alga *Chlorella fusca* var. *vacuolata*. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 24(8), 1896-1901.
 DOI: 10.1897/04-259r.1
- Huang, Y.Q., Wong, C.K., Zheng, J.S., Bouwman, H., Barra, R., Wahlström, B., Neretin, L., Wong,
 M.H., 2012. Bisphenol A (BPA) in China: a review of sources, environmental levels, and
 potential human health impacts. Environ. Int. 42, 91-99. DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2011.04.010
- Hughes, C.L., 1988. Phytochemical mimicry of reproductive hormones and modulation of herbivore fertility by phytoestrogens. Environ. Health Perspect. 78, 171-174. DOI: 10.1289/ehp.8878171
- Imai, S., Shiraishi, A., Gamo, K., Watanabe, I., Okuhata, H., Miyasaka, H., Ikeda, K., Bamba, T., Hirata, K., 2007. Removal of phenolic endocrine disruptors by *Portulaca oleracea*. J. Biosci.

Bioeng. 103(5), 420-426. DOI: 10.1263/jbb.103.420

- Jadhav, V.V., Jadhav, A.S., Chandagade, C.A., Raut, P.D., 2012. Genotoxicity of bisphenol A on root meristem cells of *Allium cepa*: a cytogenetic approach. Asian J. Water Environ. Pollut. 9(1), 39-43.
- Jiao, L., Wang, L., Qiu, Z., Wang, Q., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2015. Effects of bisphenol A on chlorophyll synthesis in soybean seedlings. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22(8), 5877-5886. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-014-3764-0
- Jiao, L., Ding, H., Wang, L., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2017a. Bisphenol A effects on the chlorophyll contents in soybean at different growth stages. Environ. Pollut. 223, 426-434. DOI:

10.1016/j.envpol.2017.01.042

- Jiao, L., Wang, L., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2017b. Stomatal and non-stomatal factors regulated the photosynthesis of soybean seedlings in the present of exogenous bisphenol A. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 145, 150-160. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.07.028
- Kang, J.H., Kondo, F., 2006. Distribution and biodegradation of bisphenol A in water hyacinth. Bull. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 77(4), 500-507. DOI: 10.1007/s00128-006-1092-x
- Kang, J.H., Asai, D., Katayama, Y., 2007. Bisphenol A in the aquatic environment and its endocrine-disruptive effects on aquatic organisms. Crit. Rev. Toxicol. 37(7), 607-625. DOI: 10.1080/10408440701493103
- Khalil, N., Ebert, J.R., Wang, L., Belcher, S., Lee, M., Czerwinski, S.A., Kannan, K., 2014.
 Bisphenol A and cardiometabolic risk factors in obese children. Sci. Total Environ. 470-471(2), 726-732. DOI: 10.1016/j.scitotenv.2013.09.088

Kim, D., Kwak., J.I., An, Y.J., 2018. Effects of bisphenol A in soil on growth, photosynthesis activity,

and genistein levels in crop plants (*Vigna radiata*). Chemosphere 209, 875-882. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2018.06.146

- Kobroob, A., Peerapanyasut, W., Chattipakorn, N., Wongmekiat, O., 2018. Damaging effects of bisphenol A on the kidney and the protection by melatonin: emerging evidences from *in vivo* and *in vitro* studies. Oxid. Med. Cell. Longev. 2018, 3082438. DOI: 10.1155/2018/3082438
- Kondo, Y., Shimoda, K., Miyahara, K., Hamada, H., Hamada, H., 2006. Regioselective hydroxylation, reduction, and glycosylation of diphenyl compounds by cultured plant cells of *Eucalyptus perriniana*. Plant Biotechnol. 23(3), 291-296. DOI: 10.5511/plantbiotechnology.23.291
- Kwak, J.I., Moon, J., Kim, D., Cui, R., An, Y.J., 2017. Determination of the soil hazardous concentrations of bisphenol A using the species sensitivity approach. J. Hazard. Mater. 344, 390-397. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2017.10.048
- Lang, I.A., Galloway, T.S., Scarlett, A., Henley, W.E., Depledge, M., Wallace, R.B., Melzer, D., 2009. Association of urinary bisphenol A concentration with medical disorders and laboratory abnormalities in adults. JAMA 300(11), 1303-1310. DOI: 10.1001/jama.300.11.1303
- Lee, S., Liao, C., Song, G.J., Ra, K., Kannan, K., Moon, H.B., 2015. Emission of bisphenol analogues including bisphenol A and bisphenol F from wastewater treatment plants in Korea. Chemosphere 119, 1000-1006. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.09.011
- Li, R., Liu, Y., Chen, G., Tam, N.F.Y., Shin, P.K.S., Cheung, S.G., Luan, T., 2008. Physiological responses of the alga *Cyclotella caspia* to bisphenol A exposure. Bot. Mar. 51(5), 360-369. DOI: 10.1515/BOT.2008.050
- Li, R., Chen, G.Z., Tam, N.F.Y., Luan, T.G., Shin, P.K.S., Cheung, S.G., Liu, Y., 2009. Toxicity of

bisphenol A and its bioaccumulation and removal by a marine microalga *Stephanodiscus hantzschii*. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 72(2), 321-328. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2008.05.012

- Li, S.W., Leng, Y., Feng, L., Zeng, X.Y., 2014. Involvement of abscisic acid in regulating antioxidative defense systems and IAA-oxidase activity and improving adventitious rooting in mung bean [*Vigna radiata* L. Wilczek] seedlings under cadmium stress. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 21, 525-537. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-013-1942-0
- Li, X., Wang, L., Wang, S., Yang, Q., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2017. A preliminary analysis of the effects of bisphenol A on the plant root growth via changes in endogenous plant hormones. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 150, 152-158. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2017.12.031
- Li, X., Wang, L., Shen, F., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2018a. Impacts of exogenous pollutant bisphenol A on characteristics of soybeans. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 157, 463-471. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.04.013
- Li, Y.T., Liang, Y., Li, Y.N., Che, X.K., Zhao, S.J., Zhang, Z.S., Gao, H.Y., 2018b. Mechanisms by which bisphenol A affect the photosynthetic apparatus in cucumber (*Cucumis sativus* L.) leaves. Sci. Rep. 8(1), 4253. DOI: 10.1038/s41598-018-22486-4
- Liu, Y., Guan, Y., Gao, Q., Tam, N.F.Y., Zhu, W., 2010. Cellular responses, biodegradation and bioaccumulation of endocrine disrupting chemicals in marine diatom *Navicula incerta*.
 Chemosphere 80(5), 592-599. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.03.042
- Loffredo, E., Eliana G.C., Traversa, A., Senesi, N., 2010. Potential of various herbaceous species to remove the endocrine disruptor bisphenol A from aqueous media. Chemosphere 80(11), 1274-1280. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2010.06.054

Lu, J., Wu, J., Stoffella, P.J., Wilson, P.C., 2012. Isotope dilution-gas chromatography/mass

spectrometry method for the analysis of alkylphenols, bisphenol A, and estrogens in food crops.

J. Chromatogr. A. 1258, 128-135. DOI: 10.1016/j.chroma.2012.08.033

- Lu, J., Wu, J., Stoffella, P.J., Wilson, P.C., 2013. Analysis of bisphenol A, nonylphenol, and natural estrogens in vegetables and fruits using gas chromatography-tandem mass spectrometry. J. Agric. Food Chem. 61(1), 84-89. DOI: 10.1021/jf304971k
- Lu, J., Wu, J., Stoffella, P.J., Wilson, P.C., 2015. Uptake and distribution of bisphenol A and nonylphenol in vegetable crops irrigated with reclaimed water. J. Hazard. Mater. 283, 865-870.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2014.10.018
- Lunardi, D., Abelli, L., Panti, C., Marsili, L., Fossi, M.C., Mancia, A., 2016. Transcriptomic analysis of bottlenose dolphin (*Tursiops truncatus*) skin biopsies to assess the effects of emerging contaminants. Mar. Environ. Res. 114, 74-79. DOI: 10.1016/j.marenvres.2016.01.002
- Matsushima, K., Kaneda, H., Harada, K., Matsuura, H., Hirata, K., 2015. Immobilization of enzymatic extracts of *Portulaca oleracea* cv. roots for oxidizing aqueous bisphenol A. Biotechnol. Lett. 37(5), 1037-1042. DOI: 10.1007/s10529-014-1761-5
- Merchant Research & Consulting Itd, 2013. World BPA production grew by over 372,000 tonnes in 2012. Available from:

https://mcgroup.co.uk/news/20131108/bpa-production-grew-372000-tonnes.html/

- Morohoshi, K., Shiraishi, F., Oshima, Y., Koda, T., Nakajima, N., Edmonds, J.S., Morita, M., 2003. Synthesis and estrogenic activity of bisphenol a mono- and di-beta-D-glucopyranosides, plant metabolites of bisphenol A. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 22(10), 2275-2279. DOI: 10.1897/02-464
- Mustilli, A.C., Merlot, S., Vavasseur, A., Fenzi, F., Giraudat, J., 2002. *Arabidopsis* OST1 protein kinase mediates the regulation of stomatal aperture by abscisic acid and acts upstream of

reactive oxygen species production. Plant Cell 14, 3089-3099. DOI: 10.1105/tpc.007906

- Nakajima, N., Ohshima, Y., Serizawa, S., Kouda, T., Edmonds, J.S., Shiraishi, F., Aono, M., Kubo,
 A., Tamaki, M., Saji, H., Morita, M., 2002. Processing of bisphenol A by plant tissues:
 glucosylation by cultured BY-2 cells and glucosylation/translocation by plants of *Nicotiana tabacum*. Plant Cell Physiol. 43(9), 1036-1042. DOI: 10.1093/pcp/pcf130
- Nakajima, N., Oshima, Y., Edmonds, J.S., Morita, M., 2004. Glycosylation of bisphenol A by tobacco BY-2 cells. Phytochemistry 65(10), 1383-1387. DOI:

10.1016/j.phytochem.2004.02.027

- Nakajima, N., Teramoto, T., Kasai, F., Sano, T., Tamaoki, M., Aono, M., Kubo, A., Kamada, H., Azumi, Y., Saji, H., 2007. Glycosylation of bisphenol A by freshwater microalgae. Chemosphere 69(6), 934-941. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2007.05.088
- Nanjappa, M.K., Simon, L., Akingbemi, B.T., 2012. The industrial chemical bisphenol A (BPA) interferes with proliferative activity and development of steroidogenic capacity in rat Leydig cells. Biol. Reprod. 86(5): 135, 1-12. DOI: 10.1095/biolreprod.111.095349
- Newbold, R.R., Jefferson, W.N., Padilla-Banks, E., 2007. Long-term adverse effects of neonatal exposure to bisphenol A on the murine female reproductive tract. Reprod. Toxicol. 24(2), 253-258. DOI: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.07.006
- Nie, L., Wang, L., Wang, Q., Wang, S., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2015a. Effects of bisphenol A on mineral nutrition in soybean seedling roots. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 34(1), 133-140. DOI: 10.1002/etc.2770
- Nie, L., Wang, L., Wang, Q., Wang, S., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2015b. Effects of bisphenol A on key enzymes in cellular respiration of soybean seedling roots. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 34(10),

2363-2369. DOI: 10.1002/etc.3073

- Niu, Y., Zhang, J., Wu, Y., Shao, B., 2012. Analysis of bisphenol A and alkylphenols in cereals by automated on-line solid-phase extraction and liquid chromatography tandem mass spectrometry.
 J. Agric. Food Chem. 60(24), 6116-6122. DOI: 10.1021/jf301401k
- Noureddin, I.M., Furumoto, T., Ishida, Y., Fukui, H., 2004. Absorption and metabolism of bisphenol A, a possible endocrine disruptor, in the aquatic edible plant, water convolvulus (*Ipomoea aquatica*). Biosci. Biotechnol. Biochem. 68(6), 1398-1402. DOI: 10.1271/bbb.68.1398
- Okuhata, H., Ikeda, K., Miyasaka, H., Takahashi, S., Matsui, T., Nakayama, H., Kato, K., Hirata, K., 2010. Floricultural Salvia plants have a high ability to eliminate bisphenol A. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 110(1), 99-101. DOI: 10.1016/j.jbiosc.2009.12.014
- Ouada, S.B., Ali, R.B., Leboulanger, C., Ouada, H.B., Sayadi, S., 2018. Effect of bisphenol A on the extremophilic microalgal strain *Picocystis* sp. (Chlorophyta) and its high BPA removal ability. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 158, 1-8. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.04.008
- Pan, W.J., Xiong, C., Wua, Q.P., Liu, J.X., Liao, H.M., Chen, W., Liu, Y.S., Zheng, L., 2013. Effect of BPA on the germination, root development, seedling growth and leaf differentiation under different light conditions in *Arabidopsis thaliana*. Chemosphere 93(10), 2585-2592. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2013.09.081
- Peng, Z., Wu, F., Deng, N., 2006. Photodegradation of bisphenol A in simulated lake water containing algae, humic acid and ferric ions. Environ. Pollut. 144(3), 840-846. DOI: 10.1016/j.envpol.2006.02.006
- Popko, J., Hänsch, R., Mendel, R.R., Polle, A., Teichmann, T., 2010. The role of abscisic acid and auxin in the response of poplar to abiotic stress. Plant Biol. 12(2), 242-258. DOI:

10.1111/j.1438-8677.2009.00305.x

- Pozo, J.C.D., Lopez-Matas, M.A., Ramirez-Parra, E., Gutierrez, C., 2005. Hormonal control of the plant cell cycle. Physiol. Plantarum 123(2), 173-183. DOI: 10.1111/j.1399-3054.2004.00420.x
- Prins, G.S., Hu, W.Y., Shi, G.B., Hu, D.P., Majumdar, S., Li, G., Huang, K., Nelles, J.L., Ho, S.M., Walker, C.L., Kajdacsy-Balla, A., van Breemen, R.B., 2014. Bisphenol A promotes human prostate stem-progenitor cell self-renewal and increases in vivo carcinogenesis in human prostate epithelium. Endocrinology 155(3), 805-817. DOI: 10.1210/en.2013-1955
- Qiu, Z., Wang, L., Zhou, Q., 2013. Effects of bisphenol A on growth, photosynthesis and chlorophyll fluorescence in above-ground organs of soybean seedlings. Chemosphere 90(3), 1274-1280.
 DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2012.09.085
- Rancière, F., Lyons, J.G., Loh, V.H.Y., Botton, J., Galloway, T., Wang, T., Shaw, J.E., Magliano, D.J., 2015. Bisphenol A and the risk of cardiometabolic disorders: a systematic review with meta-analysis of the epidemiological evidence. Environ. Health 14, 46-48. DOI: 10.1186/s12940-015-0036-5
- Rochester, J.R., 2013. Bisphenol A and human health: a review of the literature. Reprod. Toxicol. 42, 132-155. DOI: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2013.08.008
- Rubin, B.S., Lenkowski, J.R., Schaeberle, C.M., Vandenberg, L.N., Ronsheim, P.M., Soto, A.M., 2006. Evidence of altered brain sexual differentiation in mice exposed perinatally to low, environmentally relevant levels of bisphenol A. Endocrinology 147(8), 3681-3691. DOI: 10.1210/en.2006-0189
- Rubin, B.S., 2011. Bisphenol A: an endocrine disruptor with widespread exposure and multiple effects. J. Steroid Biochem. Mol. Biol. 127(1-2), 27-34. DOI: 10.1016/j.jsbmb.2011.05.002

- Ryan, J.A., Bell, R.M., Davidson, J.M., O'Connor, G.A., 1988. Plant uptake of non-ionic organic chemicals from soils. Chemosphere 17(12), 2299-2323. DOI: 10.1016/0045-6535(88)90142-7
- Saini, S., Sharma, I., Kaur, N., Pati, P.K., 2013. Auxin: a master regulator in plant root development. Plant Cell Rep. 32(6), 741-757. DOI: 10.1007/s00299-013-1430-5
- Saiyood, S., Vangnai, A.S., Thiravetyan, P., Inthorn, D., 2010. Bisphenol A removal by the *Dracaena* plant and the role of plant-associating bacteria. J. Hazard. Mater. 178(1-3), 777-785. DOI: 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2010.02.008
- Saiyood, S., Inthorn, D., Vangnai, A S., Thiravetyan, P., 2013. Phytoremediation of bisphenol A and total dissolved solids by the mangrove plant, *Bruguiera gymnorhiza*. Int. J. Phytoremediat. 15(5), 427-438. DOI: 10.1080/15226514.2012.716096
- Schmidt, B., Schuphan, I., 2002. Metabolism of the environmental estrogen bisphenol A by plant cell suspension cultures. Chemosphere 49(1), 51-59. DOI: 10.1016/s0045-6535(02)00142-x
- Schwarzbauer, J., Heim, S., Brinker, S., Littke, R., 2002. Occurrence and alteration of organic contaminants in seepage and leakage water from a waste deposit landfill. Water Res. 36(9), 2275-2287. DOI: 10.1016/S0043-1354(01)00452-3
- Shanker, A.K., Cervantes, C., Loza-Tavera, H., Avudainayagam, S., 2005. Chromium toxicity in plants. Environ. Int. 31(5), 739-753. DOI: 10.1016/j.envint.2005.02.003
- Shrestha, S.L., Casey, F.X., Hakk, H., Smith, D.J., Padmanabhan, G., 2012. Fate and transformation of an estrogen conjugate and its metabolites in agricultural soils. Environ. Sci. Technol. 46(20), 11047-11053. DOI: 10.1021/es3021765
- Song, S., Song, M., Zeng, L., Wang, T., Liu, R., Ruan, T., Jiang, G., 2014. Occurrence and profiles of bisphenol analogues in municipal sewage sludge in China. Environ. Pollut. 186, 14-19. DOI:

10.1016/j.envpol.2013.11.023

- Speranza, A., Crosti, P., Malerba, M., Stocchi, O., Scoccianti, V., 2011. The environmental endocrine disruptor, bisphenol A, affects germination, elicits stress response and alters steroid hormone production in kiwifruit pollen. Plant Biol. 13(1), 209-217. DOI: 10.1111/j.1438-8677.2010.00330.x
- Staples, C.A., Dorn, P.B., Klecka, G.M., O'Block, S.T., Harris, L.R., 1998. A review of the environmental fate, effects, and exposures of bisphenol A. Chemosphere 36(10), 2149-2173.
 DOI: 10.1016/s0045-6535(97)10133-3
- Staples, C., Friederich, U., Hall, T., Klecka, G., Mihaich, E., Ortego, L., Caspers, N., Hentges, S., 2010. Estimating potential risks to terrestrial invertebrates and plants exposed to bisphenol A in soil amended with activated sludge biosolids. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 29(2), 467-475. DOI: 10.1002/etc.49
- Stavropoulou, K., Adamakis, I.D.S., Panteris, E., Arseni, E.M., Eleftheriou, E.P., 2018. Disruption of actin filaments in *Zea mays* by bisphenol A depends on their crosstalk with microtubules. Chemosphere 195, 653-665. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2017.12.099
- Sun, H., Wang, L. H., Zhou, Q., Huang, X. H., 2013a. Effects of bisphenol A on ammonium assimilation in soybean roots. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 20(12), 8484-8490. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-013-1771-1
- Sun, H., Wang, L., Zhou, Q., 2013b. Effects of bisphenol A on growth and nitrogen nutrition of roots of soybean seedlings. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 32(1), 174-180. DOI: 10.1002/etc.2042
- Suyamud, B., Thiravetyan, P., Panyapinyopol, B., Inthorn, D., 2018. *Dracaena sanderiana* endophytic bacteria interactions: Effect of endophyte inoculation on bisphenol A removal.

Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 157, 318-326. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.03.066

Swarup, R., Perry, P., Hagenbeek, D., Van, S.D., Beemster, G.T., Sandberg, G., Bhalerao, R., Ljung,
K., Bennett, M.J., 2007. Ethylene upregulates auxin biosynthesis in *Arabidopsis* seedlings to
enhance inhibition of root cell elongation. Plant Cell 19, 2186-2196. DOI:

10.1105/tpc.107.052100

Takahashi, M., Tsukamoto, S., Kawaguchi, A., Sakamoto, A., Morikawa, H., 2005. Phytoremediators from abandoned rice field. Plant Biotechnol. 22(2), 167-170. DOI:

10.5511/plantbiotechnology.22.167

- Tanaka, Y., Sano, T., Tamaoki, M., Nakajima, N., Kondo, N., Hasezawa, S., 2005. Ethylene inhibits abscisic acid-induced stomatal closure in *Arabidopsis*. Plant Physiol. 138, 2337-2343. DOI: 10.1104/pp.105.063503
- Terouchi, N., Nakamura, K.T., Enomoto, K., Hosoya, N., Nishinari, N., 2004. Bisphenol A stimulates growth and shoot differentiation in plants. Plant Biotechnol. 21(4), 307-308. DOI: 10.5511/plantbiotechnology.21.307
- Terouchi, N., Kato, C., Hosoya, N., 2010. Characterization of *Arabidopsis* response regulator genes with regard to bisphenol A signaling. Plant Biotechnol. 27(1), 115-118. DOI: 10.5511/plantbiotechnology.27.115
- Tharp, A.P., Maffini, M.V., Hunt, P.A., VandeVoort, C.A., Sonnenschein, C., Soto, A.M., 2012.
 Bisphenol A alters the development of the rhesus monkey mammary gland. Proc. Natl. Acad.
 Sci. U.S.A. 109(21), 8190-8195. DOI: 10.1073/pnas.1120488109
- Tian, Y.S., Jin, X.F., Fu, X.Y., Zhao, W., Han, H.J., Zhu, B., Liu, M., Yao, Q.H., 2014. Microarray analysis of differentially expressed gene responses to bisphenol A in *Arabidopsis*. J. Toxicol. Sci.

39(4), 671-679. DOI: 10.2131/jts.39.671

- Toyama, T., Sato, Y., Inoue, D., Sei, K., Chang, Y.C., Kikuchi, S., Ike, M., 2009. Biodegradation of bisphenol A and bisphenol F in the rhizosphere sediment of *Phragmites australis*. J. Biosci. Bioeng. 108(2), 147-150. DOI: 10.1016/j.jbiosc.2009.03.011
- Tran, B.C., Teil, M.J., Blanchard, M., Alliot, F., Chevreuil, M., 2015. BPA and phthalate fate in a sewage network and an elementary river of France. Influence of hydroclimatic conditions. Chemosphere 119, 43-51. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2014.04.036
- Vandenberg, L.N., Hauser, R., Marcus, M., Olea, N., Welshons, W.V., 2007. Human exposure to bisphenol A (BPA). Reprod. Toxicol. 24(2), 139-177. DOI: 10.1016/j.reprotox.2007.07.010
- Vogel, S.A., 2009. The politics of plastics: the making and unmaking of bisphenol a "safety". Am. J. Public Health. 99 Suppl. 3, S559-566. DOI: 10.2105/AJPH.2008.159228
- Völkel, W., 2017. Lesson of 15-year exposure to bisphenol A: a critical discussion of biomonitoring studies. Arch. Toxicol. 91(11), 3693-3696. DOI: 10.1007/s00204-017-1963-4
- Wang, H., Zhang, A., Wang, W., Zhang, M., Liu, H., Wang, X., 2013. Separation and determination of triclosan and bisphenol A in water, beverage, and urine samples by dispersive liquid-liquid microextraction combined with capillary zone electrophoresis-UV detection. J. Aoac Int. 96(2), 459-465. DOI: 10.5740/jaoacint.10-402
- Wang, I.J., Chen, C.Y., Bornehag, C.G., 2016. Bisphenol A exposure may increase the risk of development of atopic disorders in children. Int. J. Hyg. Environ. Health 219(3), 311-316. DOI: 10.1016/j.ijheh.2015.12.001
- Wang, Q., Wang, L., Han, R., Yang, L., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2015a. Effects of bisphenol A on antioxidant system in soybean seedling roots. Environ. Toxicol. Chem. 34(5), 1127-1133. DOI:

10.1002/etc.2904

- Wang, S., Wang, L., Hua, W., Zhou, M., Wang, Q., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2015b. Effects of bisphenol A, an environmental endocrine disruptor, on the endogenous hormones of plants. Environ. Sci.
 Pollut. Res. 22(22), 17653-17662. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-015-4972-y
- Wang, S., Liu, F., Wu, W., Hu, Y., Liao, R., Chen, G., Wang, J., Li, J., 2018. Migration and health risks of nonylphenol and bisphenol A in soil-winter wheat systems with long-term reclaimed water irrigation. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 158, 28-36. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.03.082
- Wang, Z., Liu, H., Liu, S., 2017. Low-dose bisphenol A exposure: a seemingly instigating carcinogenic effect on breast cancer. Adv. Sci. 4(2), 1600248. DOI: 10.1002/advs.201600248
- Watanabe, I., Harada, K., Matsui, T., Miyasaka, H., Okuhata, H., Tanaka, S., Nakayama, H., Kato, K.,
 Bamba, T., Hirata, K., 2012. Characterization of bisphenol A metabolites produced by *Portulaca oleracea* cv. by liquid chromatography coupled with tandem mass spectrometry. Biosci.
 Biotechnol. Biochem. 76(5), 1015-1017. DOI: 10.1271/bbb.110967
- Weinhouse, C., Anderson, O.S., Bergin, I.L., Vandenbergh, D.J., Gyekis, J.P., Dingman, M.A., Yang
 J., Dolinoy, D.C., 2014. Dose-dependent incidence of hepatic tumors in adult mice following
 perinatal exposure to bisphenol A. Environ. Health Perspect. 122(5), 485-491. DOI:
 10.1289/ehp.1307449
- Wu, P., Zhang, L., Yang, D., Zhang, J., Hu, Z., Wang, L., Ma, B., 2016. Isotope dilution gas chromatography with mass spectrometry for the analysis of 4- octyl phenol, 4- nonylphenol, and bisphenol A in vegetable oils. J. Sep. Sci. 39(5), 904-909. DOI: 10.1002/jssc.201500887
- Xiang, R., Shi, J., Yu, Y., Zhang, H., Dong, C., Yang, Y., Wu, Z., 2017. The effect of bisphenol A on growth, morphology, lipid peroxidation, antioxidant enzyme activity, and PS II in

Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii and *Scenedesmus quadricauda*. Arch. Environ. Contam. Toxicol. 74(4), 515-526. DOI: 10.1007/s00244-017-0454-1

Xiang, R., Shi, J., Zhang, H., Dong, C., Liu, Li., Fu, J., He, X., Yan, Y., Wu, Z., 2018. Chlorophyll a fluorescence and transcriptome reveal the toxicological effects of bisphenol A on an invasive cyanobacterium, *Cylindrospermopsis raciborskii*. Aquat. Toxicol. 200, 188-196. DOI:

10.1016/j.aquatox.2018.05.005

- Xiao, C., Wang, L., Hu, D., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2019. Effects of exogenous bisphenol A on the function of mitochondria in root cells of soybean (*Glycine max* L.) seedlings. Chemosphere 222, 619-627. DOI: 10.1016/j.chemosphere.2019.01.195
- Xuan, Y.J., Endo, Y., Fujimoto, K., 2002. Oxidative degradation of bisphenol A by crude enzyme prepared from potato. J. Agric. Food Chem. 50(22), 6575-6578. DOI: 10.1021/jf0205918
- Yamamoto, T., Yasuhara, A., Shiraishi, H., Nakasugi, O., 2001. Bisphenol A in hazardous waste landfill leachates. Chemosphere 42(4), 415-418. DOI: 10.1016/s0045-6535(00)00079-5
- Yoshida, M., Ono, H., Mori, Y., Chuda, Y., Mori, M., 2002. Oxygenation of bisphenol A to quinones by polyphenol oxidase in vegetables. J. Agric. Food Chem. 50(15), 4377-4381. DOI: 10.1021/jf020206e
- Yu, X., Xue, J., Yao, H., Wu, Q., Venkatesan, A.K., Halden, R.U., Kannan, K., 2015. Occurrence and estrogenic potency of eight bisphenol analogs in sewage sludge from the U.S. EPA targeted national sewage sludge survey. J. Hazard. Mater. 299, 733-739. DOI:
 - 10.1016/j.jhazmat.2015.07.012
- Zhang, H., Han, W., Smet, I., Talboys, P., Loya, R., Hassan, A., Rong, H., Jürgens, G., Paul, K.J., 2010. ABA promotes quiescence of the quiescent centre and suppresses stem cell differentiation

in the Arabidopsis primary root meristem. Plant J. 64, 764-774. DOI:

10.1111/j.1365-313X.2010.04367.x

- Zhang, J., Wang, L., Li, M., Jiao, L., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2015. Effects of bisphenol A on chlorophyll fluorescence in five plants. Environ. Sci. Pollut. Res. 22(22), 17724-17732. DOI: 10.1007/s11356-015-5003-8
- Zhang, J., Wang, L., Zhou, Q., Huang, X., 2018. Reactive oxygen species initiate a protective response in plant roots to stress induced by environmental bisphenol A. Ecotoxicol. Environ. Saf. 154, 197-205. DOI: 10.1016/j.ecoenv.2018.02.020
- Zhang, W., Xiong, B., Sun, W.F., An, S., Lin, K.F., Guo, M.J., Cui, X.H., 2014. Acute and chronic toxic effects of bisphenol A on *Chlorella pyrenoidosa* and *Scenedesmus obliquus*. Environ. Toxicol. 29(6), 714-722. DOI: 10.1002/tox.21806
- Zhong, S., Tan, S.N., Ge, L., Wang, W., Chen, J., 2011. Determination of bisphenol A and naphthols in river water samples by capillary zone electrophoresis after cloud point extraction. Talanta 85(1), 488-492. DOI: 10.1016/j.talanta.2011.04.009



Figure 1 Uptake, distribution and biotransformation of BPA by plant



Figure 2 The inimical effects of BPA stress on plant